

# The physiological responses of cacao to the environment and the implications for climate change resilience. A review

Article

Published Version

Creative Commons: Attribution 4.0 (CC-BY)

**Open Access** 

Lahive, F., Hadley, P. and Daymond, A. J. ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7597-9423 (2019) The physiological responses of cacao to the environment and the implications for climate change resilience. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 39 (1). 5. ISSN 1774-0746 doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-018-0552-0 Available at https://centaur.reading.ac.uk/80969/

It is advisable to refer to the publisher's version if you intend to cite from the work. See <u>Guidance on citing</u>.

To link to this article DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13593-018-0552-0

Publisher: Springer

All outputs in CentAUR are protected by Intellectual Property Rights law, including copyright law. Copyright and IPR is retained by the creators or other copyright holders. Terms and conditions for use of this material are defined in the <u>End User Agreement</u>.

www.reading.ac.uk/centaur



## CentAUR

### Central Archive at the University of Reading

Reading's research outputs online

**REVIEW ARTICLE** 



CrossMark

### The physiological responses of cacao to the environment and the implications for climate change resilience. A review

Fiona Lahive<sup>1</sup> · Paul Hadley<sup>1</sup> · Andrew J. Daymond<sup>1</sup>

Accepted: 30 November 2018 © The Author(s) 2018

#### Abstract

Cacao (Theobroma cacao L.) is a tropical perennial crop which is of great economic importance to the confectionary industry and to the economies of many countries of the humid tropics where it is grown. Some recent studies have suggested that climate change could severely impact cacao production in West Africa. It is essential to incorporate our understanding of the physiology and genetic variation within cacao germplasm when discussing the implications of climate change on cacao productivity and developing strategies for climate resilience in cacao production. Here, we review the current research on the physiological responses of cacao to various climate factors. Our main findings are as follows: (1) water limitation causes significant yield reduction in cacao, but genotypic variation in sensitivity is evident; (2) in the field, cacao experiences higher temperatures than is often reported in the literature; (3) the complexity of the cacao/shade tree interaction can lead to contradictory results; (4) elevated CO<sub>2</sub> may alleviate some negative effects of climate change; (5) implementation of mitigation strategies can help reduce environmental stress; and (6) significant gaps in the research need addressing to accelerate the development of climate resilience. Harnessing the significant genetic variation apparent within cacao germplasm is essential to develop modern varieties capable of high yields in non-optimal conditions. Mitigation strategies will also be essential, but to use shading to best effect shade tree selection is crucial to avoid resource competition. Cacao is often described as being sensitive to climate change, but genetic variation, adaptive responses, appropriate mitigation strategies and interactive climate effects should all be considered when predicting the future of cacao production. Incorporating these physiological responses to various environmental conditions and developing a deeper understanding of the processes underlying these responses will help to accelerate the development of a more resource use efficient tree ensuring sustainable production into the future.

Keywords Cocoa · Ecophysiology · Tropical agriculture · Water deficit · High temperature · Elevated CO<sub>2</sub>

#### Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Water relations
  - 2.1 Water limitation 2.2 Flooding
- 3. Temperature and vapour pressure deficit
- 4. Irradiance
- 5. Carbon dioxide
- 6. Interactions between climate variables
- 7. Mitigating against climate change
  - 7.1 Crop husbandry

Fiona Lahive f.m.lahive@reading.ac.uk

School of Agriculture, Policy and Development, University of Reading, Reading RG6 6AR, UK

- 7.2 Identification of tolerant genotypes
- 8. Gaps in current research
  - 8.1 Detailed understanding of physiological processes in cacao
  - 8.2 Interactive effects
  - 8.3 Linking physiological responses and their underlying genetic controls
- 8.4 Field based studies on detailed physiological responses 9. Conclusion
- References

#### **1** Introduction

Cacao (Theobroma cacao L.) is an understory tropical tree which has its origins in the Amazon Basin. It is one of the most commercially important perennial tropical crops and is



grown for its beans which are used in the production of chocolate. Approximately 3.99 million tonnes of cacao were produced in 2015/2016 (ICCO 2017) with an estimated market value of \$98.3 billion (Marketsandmarkets 2011). Since 2008, demand for cocoa has grown by approximately 3% year on year (WCF 2014). While demand is predicted to continue increasing, on current trajectories, supply is not expected to continue to meet the growing demand (WCF 2014). There are numerous constraints to supply including significant losses to pests and diseases, aging farms and trees, limited yield potential of planting material and, in some areas, changes in climate.

Cacao is cultivated worldwide in the humid tropics within 20° north and south of the equator; production is concentrated in West Africa, South-East Asia and Latin America. Within West Africa, which accounts for over 70% of global cacao supply, the main producing countries are Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Nigeria and Cameroon. In South-East Asia, Indonesia is, by far, the greatest producing country followed by Papua New Guinea, and within Latin America, production is greatest in Brazil, Ecuador and Colombia. Approximately five to six million farmers are involved in cacao production around the world, the majority of which produce on smallholdings (WCF 2014). Cacao farming is mainly a low-input, rain-fed system. Fertiliser application is variable, and use of mechanisation is currently limited to a small number of farms. In West Africa, cacao trees are seed-derived, whereas across South America and South-East Asia, both seed-derived and grafted (clonal) cacao are cultivated. The trees come into bearing after 2-3 years (depending on variety and propagation method) when small flowers are produced on the trunk and branches. Usually less than 5% of flowers form fruits (usually termed 'pods'; juvenile pods are termed 'cherelles'). These hard-walled pods take approximately 5 to 6 months to reach maturity after pollination and typically contain 20–40 seeds which, after fermenting and drying, are sold into the cocoa market (Toxopeus 1985). Figure 1a shows cacao trees growing on a typical farm in Ghana; Fig. 1b shows the flushing behaviour of a young cacao seedling.

The progression of climate change in tropical regions is expected to have an overall negative impact on agriculture. The low-input agricultural systems in West Africa are likely to be among the most vulnerable (Sultan and Gaetani 2016). Current atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations are around 400 ppm, and depending on future emission scenarios, it is predicted to increase to between 490 and 1370 ppm by the end of this century (Van Vuuren et al. 2011), leading to changes in global temperatures and precipitation patterns. Average global temperatures are expected to increase by approximately 1.4-4.8 °C, while changes in precipitation are more variable across regions (IPCC 2013). Increases in rainfall in the tropics are predicted in many models, while others predict declining rainfall in the future or no strong trend either way (Biasutti 2013). The number of extreme wet days is predicted to increase in West Africa during June, July and August (Sultan and Gaetani 2016), and dry season length and severity has increased significantly in West African rainforest regions (Malhi and Wright 2004). As cacao production is a low-input farming system, without adaptation practices, productivity may be vulnerable to changing climate conditions.

Recent claims, based on model predictions, have suggested that large parts of cacao-producing regions in West Africa will become unfit for production in the future (Läderach et al. 2013; Schroth et al. 2016). These claims are largely based on predicted temperature increases which are expected to drive greater evaporative demand resulting in increased incidence of water deficit. This research has been very influential

**Fig. 1** Cacao smallholding in Ghana (left), developing flush leaves on cacao seedling (right)





in leading the discussion around how cacao can be expected to respond to climate change. However, the major shortcomings of this research are a lack of consideration of the physiological responses of cacao to varying environmental conditions and the potential for the crop to be adapted to sub-optimal conditions. The genetic variation within cacao germplasm in relation to responses to water deficit, high temperature and elevated  $CO_2$  has so far been largely untapped by breeders. We suggest that there is potential to develop improved cacao varieties that can continue to yield well under a range of climate change scenarios through the exploitation of the existing genotypic variation in response to climate and through understanding the physiological processes underlying resilience to environmental stress.

This review details the current state of knowledge on the physiological responses of cacao to individual climate variables and, where available, their interactions and the genetic variation in these responses. A summary of the documented responses of various physiological parameters to these climate variables is shown in Tables 1 and 2. Areas currently lacking research are highlighted, and suggestions are made on possible ways forward in the development of a cacao crop that can be more resilient to future climatic conditions.

#### 2 Water relations

Rainfall is the most important environmental factor influencing cacao yields (Wood 1985). Alvim (1977) stated that an average rainfall of between 1400 and 2000 mm year<sup>-1</sup> is sufficient to support growth of cacao trees, and less than 1200 mm year<sup>-1</sup> results in soil water deficits and reduced growth and yield. However, the annual distribution of rainfall is often more important than the total annual amount, and different soil types have different water retention properties which alter the sensitivity of cacao trees to soil water deficits. Prolonged dry periods where rainfall is less than 100 mm month<sup>-1</sup> for more than 3 months can have substantial negative effects on tree growth and yield. Evapotranspiration rates of 949 mm year<sup>-1</sup> were measured for 13-year-old cacao and 6-year-old cacao grown under Gliricida shade in Indonesia (Falk 2004; Köhler et al. 2009). Evapotranspiration rates of cacao vary between the wet and dry seasons. Radersma and de Ridder (1996) estimated daily evapotranspiration of cacao to range from an average of 1.6 mm day<sup>-1</sup> during the dry season to 3.2 mm day<sup>-1</sup> during the wet season. Juvenile cacao is particularly sensitive to changes in soil moisture content and plant water status and will not recover if it is stressed beyond a critical level. For this reason, establishment of cacao seedlings in the field can be a challenge in areas that experience a distinctive dry season. Flooding is also an issue in some lowland cacao-growing regions (Bertolde et al. 2012) and could possibly become more significant in the future as extreme rainfall events may increase in some areas (Sultan and Gaetani 2016).

#### 2.1 Water limitation

Water limitation is currently an issue in many cacao-growing regions. The dry season experienced in parts of West Africa can be challenging. For example, in the establishment of young cacao plants in the field, and in mature trees, the length and severity of the dry season can impact on that season's vield. The environment of the Amazon basin, where cacao evolved, was not usually a water-limited environment, and many of the physiological and morphological features of cacao are not best suited to deal with water limitations. Cacao has large, broad leaves that lose water quickly under high irradiance conditions. It also has a relatively shallow root system with the majority of fine and coarse roots located at the top 0.4–0.8 m of the soil (Moser et al. 2010) and therefore is not adapted for deep water extraction. There is also evidence that the hydraulic system in cacao is adapted for efficient movement of water from roots to leaves rather than protection against soil water limitation. The xylem of cacao stems has a larger diameter than the roots which may increase the sensitivity of cacao to cavitation under drought (Kotowska et al. 2015). In order to deal with soil moisture deficit, plants can adopt a series of mechanisms at various levels (morphology, physiology, biochemistry, cellular and molecular level); they can escape the stress through the completion of the lifecycle before the stress sets in (this system is not feasible in a perennial crop like cacao); they can adapt to the stress through changes in morphology and growth pattern (cacao shows some adaptive traits to soil moisture deficit described below), or they can avoid the stress through changes in physiology to prevent damage at the cellular level.

Prolonged soil water limitation can negatively impact yield, and seasonal variation in cropping patterns is often largely determined by the timing of rainfall and dry periods. In Ghana, maintenance of the top 0.30 m of soil at field capacity through supplementary irrigation increased pod production by 40% during a severe dry season and reduced the incidence of cherelle wilt (a fruit-thinning process in cacao) (Hutcheon et al. 1973). Model simulations of cacao productivity identified annual radiation and dry season precipitation as accounting for 70% of the variation in bean yield in cacao (Zuidema et al. 2005). However, the relationship between rainfall and yield is complex and is dependent on the stage of pod development at which the stress occurs (Ali 1969). Rainfall has been reported to be beneficial to yield in the initial stages of pod development but becomes less influential in the later stages and can even have a negative effect as pods reach maturity, as damp conditions can lead to an increase in disease incidence (Bridgland 1953 in Fordham 1972). In Nigeria,



PhotosynthesisFried studies conductance rateTampiration water net efficiencyLeaf reficiencyLeaf LeafLeaf LeafLeaf comment studiesParticle (1992), de Almeida et al. (2016), Lahive et al. (1992), de Almeida et al. (2016), Lahive et al. (2018)Field studies (at al. (2016) (be et al. (2016) (be et al. (2016))Field studies (at al. (2016) (be et al. (2016))Field studies (2016) (be et al. (2016) (be et al. (2016))Field studies (2016) (be et al. (2016) (be et al. (2016))Field studies (2016) (be et al. (2016) (be et a	Table 1Sublank cell inclink to the re	Table 1Summary table of the measublank cell indicates no available data. Rlink to the reference has been included	of the measured ulable data. Res een included	<b>Table 1</b> Summary table of the measured responses of various leafblank cell indicates no available data. Responses to irradiance referlink to the reference has been included	rrious leaf leve ince refer to hi	l parameter gh light lev	s to major c els where sl	limate varial 1ade is reduc	Summary table of the measured responses of various leaf level parameters to major climate variables. The direction of response is indicated. A dash indicates no measured change in response. A indicates no available data. Responses to irradiance refer to high light levels where shade is reduced or light levels above saturation are imposed. Where conflicting results have been reported, a reference has been included	dicates no measured change in response. A ere conflicting results have been reported, a
deficit $\downarrow$		Photosynth	esis Stomatal conductanc	Transpiration ce rate	Intrinsic water use efficiency	Leaf water potential		Leaf Lex number are	af Greenhouse/controlled a environment studies	Field studies (study location)
ng $\downarrow$	Water deficit	→ 	$\rightarrow$	→	$\leftrightarrow$	↓ (Dawn and mid-	1	$\rightarrow$ $\rightarrow$	Mohd Razi et al. (1992), de Almeida et al. (2016), Lahive et al. (2018)	Balasimha et al. (1991) (India), Rada et al. (2005) (Venezuela), de Almeida et al. (2016) (Venezuela)
pera- $\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -34 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ $\begin{pmatrix} -3$	Flooding	$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	$\leftrightarrow$	(mwn)	_/ <b>)</b>	$\rightarrow$	Sena Gomes and Kozlowski (1986), Bertolde et al. (2010, 2012), de Almeida et al. (2016)	
$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} (19-27 \circ \\ C \\ C \\ C \\ (1-2.5 \text{ kP}) \\ (2-2.5 \text{ kP}) \\ (2-2.$	High tempera- ture	↓ (> 34 °C)	↑ (20-30 <sup>•</sup>			$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	← ←	Sale (1968), Sena Gomes and Kozlowski (1987) <sup>2</sup> , Raja Harun and Hardwick (1988a) <sup>1</sup> , Daymond and Hadley (2008)	Balasimha et al. (1991) (India)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			↓ (19–27 ° C) ↑ (> 27 °C	° 2(						
$\uparrow \qquad \uparrow \qquad \downarrow \qquad \downarrow \qquad (1996a, b), \text{ Baligar et al. (2005)}$ $\uparrow \qquad \downarrow \qquad \uparrow \qquad \downarrow \qquad \downarrow \qquad (1996a, b), \text{ Baligar et al. (2005)}$ $\uparrow \qquad \downarrow \qquad \downarrow \qquad \uparrow \qquad - \qquad \uparrow \qquad \text{Baligar et al. (2005, 2008), Lahive et al. (2018)}$ ra-	Vapour pressure deficit	↓ (> 1.2 kP	,	$\leftarrow \rightarrow$	→	↑ (Mid- day)			Sena Gomes et al. (1987), Raja Harun and Hardwick (1988a) <sup>1</sup> , Baligar et al. (2008) <sup>3</sup>	Balasimha et al. (1991) (India)
$\uparrow \qquad \downarrow - \qquad \uparrow \qquad Baligar et al. (2005, 2008), Lahive et al. (2018) ta-$	Irradiance	←	~	a) <sup>1</sup>			_	_		Mivaii et al. (1997a) (Brazil)
	Carbon dioxide concentra- tion	- ←	- →	- →	←		•	↔ ←	-	

Agron. Sustain. Dev. (20



Table 2     E       change in r	Summary table of esponse was mea	measured responsured. A blank o	nses of cell indi	various whole cates no avai	Table 2         Summary table of measured responses of various whole plant and reproductive parameters to the change in response was measured. A blank cell indicates no available data. (RGR: relative growth rate)	ve paran tive gro	neters to the wth rate)	major	Table 2 Summary table of measured responses of various whole plant and reproductive parameters to the major climate variables. The direction of response is indicated by arrows. A dash symbolises no change in response was measured. A blank cell indicates no available data. (RGR: relative growth rate)	s indicated by arrows. A dash symbolises no
	Aboveground Root biomass biom	Root biomass	Root/ shoot	Root/ Flowering shoot intensity	Yield (pod or bean DW)	RGR	Cherelle wilt	Pod size	RGR         Cherelle         Pod         Greenhouse/controlled environment studies         Field studies (study location)           wilt         size	Field studies (study location)
Water deficit 1/-	-/ <b>1</b>	$\leftrightarrow$	$\leftrightarrow$	→	<b>→</b>	$\rightarrow$	←	$\rightarrow$	Sale (1970), Mohd Razi et al. (1992), dos Santos et al. (2014, 2016), Handley (2016), Lahive et al. (2018)	Hutcheon et al. (1973) (Ghana), Moser et al. (2010) (Indonesia), Schwendenmann et al. (2010) (Indonesia)
Flooding	$\rightarrow$	↓ (Adventitious root formation ↑)	$\rightarrow$			$\rightarrow$			Sena Gomes and Kozlowski (1986), Bertolde et al. (2010, 2012), de Almeida et al. (2016)	
High tempera- ture Vapour pressure		2	$\rightarrow$	←			←	$\rightarrow$	Sale (1969a), Sena Gomes and Kozlowski (1987), Daymond and Hadley (2004, 2008)	Daymond and Hadley (2011) (Brazil)
Irradiance	↓ (Seedlings)	↓ (Seedlings)		←	↑ Canopy cover up to $47\%$ , $\downarrow$ canopy cover >60%	$\rightarrow$			Galyuon et al. (1996a, b), Baligar et al. (2005)	Bisseleua et al. (2009) (Cameroon), Asare et al. (2018) (Ghana), Andres et al. (2018) (Ghana)
Carbon dioxide concentra- tion	←	←	$\rightarrow$		←	←		←	Handley (2016), Lahive et al. (2018), Baligar et al. (2005)	

rainfall was positively related to bean weight in the first 4 months of pod development but in the later stages had little or no effect (Toxopeus and Wessel 1970), while a study in Indonesia demonstrated that withholding rainfall during the initial stages of pod development caused a reduction in yield that was not recovered when rainfall was reintroduced during later development (Schwendenmann et al. 2010). Moser et al. (2010) reported a 10% reduction in bean yields in response to soil moisture deficit imposed over 13 months via a rain shelter. Interestingly, in the first harvest following relief from water deficit, bean dry weight was more than 50% lower in trees which had experienced water deficit in the months before, suggesting that the timing of water limitation is an important factor in determining yield response to water deficit. In cacao, pod development typically takes 5 to 6 months and for the first 8 weeks after pollination, pod growth is very slow. Rapid cell division and rapid expansion occur during 8 to 18 weeks after pollination (Chairun Nisa Haris 1988). In cacao, the mechanism by which water deficit impacts on early pod development is not well understood. Fruit development, in general, occurs through a process of cell division and cell enlargement. In plants, total cell number generally has a greater influence than cell size on the constituent organ size (Dante et al. 2014). Fewer cell divisions result in less cells available for subsequent cell enlargement. In tomato and peach, final fruit size is regulated by the number of cell divisions which occur before cell enlargement takes place. The number of cell divisions a cell undergoes is controlled by telomere length which is influenced by factors such as external growth conditions (Fishman et al. 2002). Cell enlargement is also influenced by external factors such as water availability as it is turgor pressure which provides the physical force required for cell expansion. In cereals, water deficit during early seed development is linked to reduced seed size by reducing the number of endosperm cells and amyloplasts formed (Saini and Westgate 2000). Cacao seeds have a high lipid content, and a major metabolic activity in developing seeds is the conversion of sucrose, via glycolysis, to oil and lipids. A decline in carbon uptake during water deficit may limit sugar transport and lipid deposition in the developing seeds, which may explain the observed lower seed weight associated with water deficit (Toxopeus and Wessel 1970; Handley 2016).

Maximal photosynthetic rates in cacao are associated with high midday leaf water potential ( $\Psi$ ) (Balasimha et al. 1991). At a midday leaf  $\Psi$  below – 1.5 MPa, stomatal conductance ( $g_s$ ) and photosynthetic rate have been observed to decline significantly (Deng et al. 1990a; Mohd Razi et al. 1992). Rada et al. (2005) observed leaf  $\Psi$  over the course of a day in water-deficit stressed and non-stressed cacao in the field in Venezuela; leaf  $\Psi$  values closely tracked vapour pressure deficit (VPD) during the day. Water potential was highest in the early morning (between – 0.5 and – 1 MPa) when VPD was lowest (ca. 1 kPa) and declined throughout the late morning



and afternoon (reaching values close to -2 MPa in stressed plants) as VPD increased, before increasing again in the late afternoon as VPD once again declined. Diurnal patterns of leaf  $\Psi$  followed a similar trend in both non-stressed and stress plants with lower values associated with greater degrees of stress (Rada et al. 2005). In response to drought in both field and greenhouse experiments in Venezuela, pre-dawn leaf  $\Psi$ decreased significantly relative to controls, but it was declined in midday leaf  $\Psi$  that distinguished genotypic variation in water-deficit tolerance (de Almeida et al. 2016). Similarly, Araque et al. (2012) observed genetic differences in midday leaf  $\Psi$  during the dry season but not in predawn measurements.

Stomatal regulation is one of the key mechanisms involved in water conservation during periods of water deficit as the stomata are crucial for regulating transpiration rate (E), although stomatal closure can also limit carbon uptake for photosynthesis. However, as a reduction in  $g_s$  limits water loss to a greater extent than carbon uptake (Farquhar and Sharkey 1982), intrinsic  $(A/g_s)$  and instantaneous (A/E) water use efficiency (iWUE and IWUE, respectively) are often improved in plants grown under water deficit (i.e. more CO<sub>2</sub> is taken up at the leaf surface per unit water transpired). In cacao, such a response has been demonstrated in iWUE and IWUE in both short- (Balasimha 1993; Rada et al. 2005) and long-term measurements (Schwendenmann et al. 2010). However, genotypic variation in the response of IWUE to drought has been observed with increases and decreases reported (Araque et al. 2012; de Almeida et al. 2016; Ávila-Lovera et al. 2016). A decline in WUE during drought may be due to severe stress conditions which negatively impact on photosynthetic efficiency (Apshara et al. 2013; Alban et al. 2016), either through changes in photosynthetic metabolism or the occurrence of oxidative stress.

Reductions in growth and leaf area expansion of cacao have been shown to decline in response to water deficit before declines in photosynthetic or assimilate export rates were observed (Joly and Hahn 1989; Deng et al. 1989, 1990b). In cacao, leaf production occurs by a series of flushes involving rapid growth of the terminal bud and production of typically three to six pairs of leaves. These are initially soft but gradually harden after full leaf expansion (Toxopeus 1985) (Fig. 1b). Leaf flushing in cacao is controlled both endogenously and environmentally. If environmental stresses are not apparent, it is mainly under endogenous control (Taylor and Hadley 1988); however, during periods of water deficit, flushing is suppressed, and once soil moisture is replenished, flushing is observed (Sale 1970; Antwi et al. 1994). Today, commercial production of cacao occurs in regions that periodically experience conditions such as high temperatures, irradiance and high vapour pressure deficit (VPD) and soil moisture deficit, which cacao has not evolved to cope with. Morphological changes during leaf development have been

2 Springer



observed in other species in response to environmental stress. For example, in coffee grown under prolonged water deficit, leaf area declined due to increased senescence and the production of fewer and smaller leaves (Meinzer et al. 1992). Cacao shows the potential for adaptive morphology under waterdeficit conditions. The leaves produced following a dry period tend to be smaller and have a shorter lifespan (Sale 1970), which may be an adaptive trait that can help to limit transpirational area. Antwi (1994) also observed increased leaf thickness and epicuticular wax content on cacao leaves grown with water deficit. Rapid leaf drop occurs in some genotypes in response to water deficit, and similarly, this may help to sustain plant water status by reducing transpirational surface area (Antwi et al. 1994). In young cacao, reductions in leaf area, leaf, shoot and root dry weight, plant height and stem girth have been reported in response to water deficit (Mohd Razi et al. 1992; Alban et al. 2016; Lahive et al. 2018). However, in mature fruit-bearing trees grown in the field, no significant decrease in net primary productivity (i.e. total leaf, wood and root production) was observed in response to 13 months of water deficit in Indonesia. In cacao grown under agroforestry systems in Brazil, the particularly severe drought during the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) event of 2015-16 increased tree mortality and reduced average potential yield by 89%. This suppression of yield was still evident 9 months later after the drought had ended (Gateau-Rey et al. 2018). In tropical tree seedlings, higher levels of non-structural carbohydrates before the onset of water deficit was associated with increased survival of fatal drought (O'Brien et al. 2014). The greater carbohydrate stores in mature cacao trees may account for the difference in tolerance to water deficit compared with seedlings. Larger root systems in older trees also allow greater access to soil moisture, which may be inaccessible to smaller seedlings. Biomass allocation patterns often change in plants exposed to water deficit causing shifts in root/shoot ratios. In cacao, changes to root biomass production under water deficit vary and appear to be genotype specific with both increases and decreases in root growth reported in response to water deficit (Mohd Razi et al. 1992; Moser et al. 2010; dos Santos et al. 2014, 2016). The ability to increase root growth under water deficit may be a beneficial trait for conferring tolerance to soil water deficit, by enabling greater access to and uptake of soil water (dos Santos et al. 2014, 2016). In robusta coffee, root depth was associated with greater tolerance to drought as water limitation could be avoided for longer in varieties with deeper roots (Pinheiro et al. 2005). Cacao has a shallow rooting system that occupies the upper soil layers and likely limits the potential for deep water access during periods of water limitation (Nygren et al. 2013; Kummerow et al. 1982). Root architecture and distribution of the roots in the soil profile is important in determining water and nutrient uptake. The ability of a plant to adjust its root surface area in response to environmental conditions is also very important (Smith and De Smet 2012) and is an area that has not been investigated in cacao. There is some evidence that potassium application can help to mitigate the negative effect of water deficit on cacao seedling growth, and this response appears to be genotype specific (de Almeida and Valle 2007; Djan et al. 2018). In other plant species, potassium is associated with stomatal regulation, cell membrane stability and enhanced root growth which can improve plant tolerance to soil moisture deficit (Wang et al. 2013). There is a need for further study of this interaction on mature trees in the field.

Reproductive development of cacao is thought to be more sensitive to water limitation than vegetative growth (Schwendenmann et al. 2010). Sale (1970) showed that flowering and pod size at maturity were reduced in cacao trees subjected to water deficit compared to trees grown with sufficient water. Similar reductions in flowering were also reported in greenhouse (Machado et al. 1981) and fieldgrown cacao (Schwendenmann et al. 2010). In Ghana, supplementary irrigation stimulated flowering and pod setting in field-grown cacao (Hutcheon et al. 1973). Adjaloo et al. (2012) reported an increase in flowering intensity during the major rainy season, a decline in the minor rainy season and a further decline in the dry season. In Costa Rica, Young (1983) reported peaks in flowering coinciding with peaks in rainfall. However, in the latter study, a drop-off in flowering was noted during the wettest months which may have been associated with lower irradiance levels and/or cooler temperatures. Thus, plant water status appears to be a key factor regulating flowering in cacao. While flower numbers are rarely limiting in cacao (typically less than 5% of flowers are converted to pods) (Toxopeus 1985), seasonal variation in flower numbers is associated with subsequent cropping (Daymond 2000), probably as flowering intensity of a given variety is indicative of carbohydrate allocation to reproduction. There is very little known about the dynamics of carbon allocation in cacao and how this is influenced by climatic conditions. The limited information available is focused on partitioning between aboveground and belowground organs, with little attention to allocation patterns between vegetative and reproductive organs. Cacao tends to favour allocation of resources towards vegetative over reproductive growth and has a relatively low harvest index. For example, in 10-year-old trees in Vanuatu, cacao fruits accounted for 12% of annual dry matter production (Bastide et al. 2009). Vegetative sinks appear to outcompete reproductive sinks in the current system (Bastide et al. 2009). There is the potential for significant yield improvements through determination of the optimum balance between vegetative and reproductive growth in cacao and the mechanisms regulating this. More research is needed in this area and in determining the influence of environmental factors on allocation patterns and translocation processes to develop a more efficient cacao variety.

#### 2.2 Flooding

Given that more extreme events are predicted with a changing climate, it is reasonable to assume that more flooding events may occur in some cacao-growing areas. Although cacao appears to be more sensitive to water limitation than flooding (de Almeida et al. 2016), it does have a depressive effect on photosynthesis and  $g_s$  (Sena Gomes and Kozlowski 1986; de Almeida et al. 2016; da Silva Branco et al. 2017) which, in the long term, leads to a reduction of leaf, stem and root growth, and changes in root/shoot ratio (Sena Gomes and Kozlowski 1986; Bertolde et al. 2010). Reductions in leaf chlorophyll content and damage to PSII have also been observed in flooded plants (Bertolde et al. 2012; da Silva Branco et al. 2017). and genetic variation in these responses is evident (Bertolde et al. 2010). Stem adventitious root production is an adaptive response to flooding in some plant species. Evidence of adventitious root formation was reported after 12 days of flooding in young, pot-grown cacao. Genetic variation was evident in this trait and was associated with higher photosynthetic rates and turgor potential during flooding (de Almeida et al. 2016). An interaction between the level of shading and response to flooding was reported in a study in southern Bahia, Brazil; the decline in photosynthesis and  $g_s$  in response to flooding was delayed in shaded conditions compared to unshaded cacao (da Silva Branco et al. 2017). In these studies, seedlings or young plants propagated by rooted cuttings were used. The only study on flooding in mature trees that we are aware of was carried out in Peru during a particularly bad flooding episode in 2012 (Delgado et al. 2016). Survival of flooded trees seemed to be associated with the age of the trees, with fewer young trees surviving flooded conditions. Maintenance of glycolysis and fermentation induction during flooding have also been identified as potential traits conferring flood tolerance and genes associated with these processes have been identified, which could potentially be used in germplasm selection (Bertolde et al. 2014). Lower levels of chlorosis during flooding have been suggested as a potential trait to identify flood tolerance among cacao genotypes (Bertolde et al. 2010).

In summary, precipitation plays a very important role in cacao production during the season and impacts on growth, leaf production, photosynthetic activity and stomatal behaviour. While cacao has been described as particularly sensitive to water deficit, mature trees appear to be less sensitive than seedlings in the field likely due to the greater resource availability of older trees. Reproductive processes also show sensitivity to plant water status, but the pod development processes, which are most sensitive to water deficit, have not been clearly identified. Although to date water deficit is a more pressing issue than flooding in cacao-growing regions, this area could potentially become more relevant if rainfall patterns become more variable in the future.



#### 3 Temperature and vapour pressure deficit

There is limited research available on the physiological responses of cacao to temperature despite de Almeida and Valle (2007) describing cacao growth and development as highly dependent on temperature and Daymond and Hadley (2004) stating that temperature was the main factor determining where cacao can be grown. Table 3 shows the range of minimum and maximum temperatures typically experienced in various cacao-growing countries throughout the year. Minimum monthly temperatures tend to range from 18 to 24 °C, with exceptions in Cameroon where lower minimum temperatures are experienced and in India where minimum temperatures can reach above 26 °C. Maximum monthly temperatures tend to range between 26 and 34 °C with slightly higher maximum temperatures recorded in southern India and Nigeria. The data shown in Table 3 is compiled from weather station data available in CLIMWAT 2.0, a climatic database developed by FAO. The weather data consists of at least 15 years of data during the period 1971-2000 (Muñoz and Grieser 2006). Note that the weather stations are sometimes located distant from cacao farms.

Daily maximum temperatures much higher than the maximum monthly temperature have been reported. For example, daily maximum temperatures between 35 °C and 40 °C and as high as 44 °C have been reported in regions of Ghana (Asare et al. 2017; Abdulai et al. 2018a). The monthly average maximum and minimum temperatures, which are often quoted, do not necessarily reflect absolute extremes of the temperature experienced. The minimum temperature requirements for cacao have been described by Erneholm (1948 in Alvim 1977) as a mean monthly minimum temperature of 15 °C and an absolute minimum of 10 °C. However, cacao has been reported to survive temperatures lower than this (Alvim 1977), although it appears that it is the length of exposure to these lower temperatures that results in damage (Wood 1985). Joly and Hahn (1991) showed that overnight chilling at temperatures between 4.7 °C and 15.8 °C caused a subsequent linear decline in photosynthesis and  $g_s$ , but full recovery was seen within 8 days. The base temperature for vegetative growth has been reported to vary between genotypes and range between 18.6 °C and 20.8 °C (Daymond and Hadley 2004). Base temperature for pod development is lower with a base temperature of 9 °C reported for the 'Catongo' variety (Alvim 1977) and a range between 7.5 °C and 12.9 °C reported for pod growth of different cacao genotypes (Daymond and Hadley 2008).

The optimum temperature for photosynthesis in cacao has been reported to be between 31 °C and 33 °C (Balasimha et al. 1991) and 33 °C-35 °C (Yapp 1992). Sena Gomes and Kozlowski (1987) reported a decrease in  $g_s$  over the range 18.7 °C to 27.2 °C and an increase at temperatures above this, most likely to enhance cooling at higher temperatures. However, the opposite effect was described by Raja Harun and Hardwick (1988a). In this study,  $g_s$  and transpiration (E) increased within the range of 20 °C-30 °C. In field-grown cacao in India, photosynthetic rate declined as mean monthly temperature increased above 34 °C during the dry season (Balasimha et al. 1991). Under controlled environment conditions, the temperature under which leaves develop influences final photosynthetic capacity. Leaves formed in a warm night time temperature regime (27/24 °C (day/night)) achieved maximum photosynthetic rates more than twice that of leaves formed under cooler conditions (27/19 °C) (Yapp 1992). The lower photosynthetic rate was associated with greater accumulation of starch and sucrose in the leaves formed in the cooler temperature regime (Yapp 1992). Vapour pressure deficit between the external atmosphere and the leaf is positively influenced by temperature, especially during the dry season, driving water loss through the leaf surface as temperatures

Table 3Annual minimum and maximum temperature conditions, based on monthly averages, in various cacao-growing countries. Data was compiledfrom the CLIMWAT 2.0 database. The temperature range for the mean monthly minimum and maximum temperatures throughout the year is shown

Region	Country	Station name	Location	Altitude (m)	Mean min temp (°C)	Mean max temp (°C)
West Africa	Côte d'Ivoire	Gagnoa	6.13 N, 5.95 W	210	20.5–22.4	28.7–33.9
	Ghana	Sefwi-Bekwai	6.2 N, 2.33 W	172	20.2-22.8	28.2-33.6
	Cameroon	Yaoundé	3.83 N, 11.51 E	760	13.9–20.0	26.2-30.9
	Nigeria	Ilorin	8.48 N, 4.58 E	305	18.7–23.2	28.8-35.9
South/Central America	Brazil	Ilhéus	14.8 S, 39.06 W	60	18.9–23.5	25.8–29.4
	Ecuador	Pichilingue	1.10 S, 79.46 W	73	19.5–21.9	27.4-30.7
	Trinidad & Tobago	Piarco Int. Airport	10.61 N, 61.35 W	15	19.7-22.5	29.2-31.3
Asia	India	Tiruchchirapalli	10.76 N, 78.71 E	88	20.6-26.5	29.3-37.1
	Malaysia	Ipoh	4.56 N, 101.1 E	39	21.8-23.4	31.8-33.8
	Indonesia	Surabaya, Perak	7.21 S, 112.7 E	3	19.1–22.7	31.0-34.2
	Indonesia	Menado	1.53 N, 124.9 E	80	20.6-21.7	31.7-33.9
	Papua New Guinea	Madang	5.21 S, 145.8 E	12	22.9–23.3	29.6–30.2



rise. If predicted temperature increases are not accompanied by greater precipitation, it follows that relative humidity will decline and the vapour pressure deficit between the atmosphere and the leaf will increase. Stomatal conductance and photosynthesis are positively correlated with relative humidity reflecting cacao's evolution in humid environments (Sena Gomes et al. 1987; Raja Harun and Hardwick 1988a). In a field study in Ghana, sap flux density in cocoa grown was positively correlated with VPD and temperature (Abdulai et al. 2018a). Stomatal conductance decreases linearly with increasing VPD, while photosynthesis appears to be less sensitive to changes in VPD, declining at values greater than 1.8 kPa (Raja Harun and Hardwick 1988a; Balasimha et al. 1991; Baligar et al. 2008). However, effective transpiration control does not appear to be present in drier atmospheric conditions. Sena Gomes et al. (1987) reported higher rates of E in low humidity relative to high humidity conditions. Similarly, despite a decline in  $g_s$  with increasing VPD, a linear increase in E was observed up to 1.5 kPa before declining (Raja Harun and Hardwick 1988a; Hernandez et al. 1989). In three genotypes of cacao, Baligar et al. (2008) demonstrated a linear increase in E as VPD increased from 1 to 2.5 kPa, while  $g_s$  and photosynthesis declined over the same range. Cuticular transpiration may be a significant source of water loss from the leaf under drier atmospheric conditions since stomatal restriction is high in these conditions. However, few attempts have been made to quantify this in cacao, and further research is needed in this area. Inefficient use of water at low humidity could exacerbate stress under hot, dry conditions. Shade trees can help to maintain high humidity levels within the canopy and could help to mitigate against stressful environmental conditions.

Enhanced growth with increasing temperature has been described in cacao. Extension growth in young cacao plants was enhanced at daytime temperatures of 30 °C compared to either 23.3 °C or 26.7 °C (Sale 1969b). The loss of apical dominance at higher temperatures resulted in higher flushing intensity and increased leaf number and leaf area (Sale 1968). Similarly, in seedlings, leaf number, leaf dry weight and plant height increased with temperature between 18.7 °C and 33.3 °C. Leaf area also increased but only up to 30.5 °C (Sena Gomes and Kozlowski 1987). Assimilate partitioning also varies with temperature, with increased partitioning to the leaves at higher temperatures and lower temperatures favouring partitioning to the stems and roots (Sena Gomes and Kozlowski 1987). Genotypic variation in growth response to temperature has also been identified by Daymond and Hadley (2004). In this study, higher temperatures were associated with increased growth as previously described, but the magnitude of response varied among genotypes, indicating the potential to match genotypes to specific growing environments (Daymond and Hadley 2004).

Plant reproductive development, in general, is considered more sensitive to temperature than vegetative development (Bita and Gerats 2013). In cacao, flowering is continuous in regions with minimal seasonal variations in temperature and rainfall, but varies in regions with distinct seasonal changes in temperature (e.g. Bahia, Brazil) (Alvim 1967). In a multilocational trial of various genotypes across Brazil, Venezuela, Trinidad and Côte d'Ivoire, there was a significant interaction between genotype and season in all four countries, suggesting the existence of genotypic variation in seasonal flowering response (and hence cropping pattern). Also, within this study, a linear response of flowering to increasing temperature was identified in Bahia, Brazil (Daymond and Hadley 2011), an area characterised by a distinct cooler season. In a controlled experiment conducted in Trinidad, daytime temperatures above 26.7 °C led to an increase in flowering intensity, while a night time temperature of 26.7 °C was identified as optimum for enhancement of flowering (Sale 1969a). Pod development is also impacted by temperature conditions. Cacao pods reach maturation earlier at higher temperatures (End et al. 1988; Daymond and Hadley 2008), and pod losses to cherelle wilt also increased (Daymond and Hadley 2008; Hadley et al. 1994). The study of Hadley et al. (1994) demonstrated higher pod respiration rates with an increase in temperature, which may have partly accounted for greater pod losses. Furthermore, since higher temperatures promote leaf and shoot growth, these may outcompete young fruits for assimilates as seen in apples (Quinlan and Preston 1971), which may also contribute towards the greater occurrence of cherelle wilt at higher temperatures. Final pod and bean size also decline with increasing temperature, although this response appears to be genotype specific (End et al. 1988; Daymond and Hadley 2008), as is the variation in fatty acid content in response to temperature (Daymond and Hadley 2008). Saturated fatty acid content and the melting point of cacao butter also increase in beans grown in warmer conditions (End 1990). In soybean, higher growth temperatures were associated with reduced oil content in the seeds (Thomas et al. 2003) and a similar response was observed within several seed oil crops (Canvin 1965). Variation in fatty acid profiles have also been observed in seeds of soybeans grown under different temperature conditions (Canvin 1965).

It is evident that there is a great deal of variation in the temperatures cacao trees are exposed to in the field. Climate change predictions suggest that higher temperatures will be experienced in cacao-growing regions, and it has been suggested that this could be detrimental to productivity in West Africa (Schroth et al. 2016). However, more research is required to identify the true extremes in temperatures and the length of exposure to elevated temperatures that cacao can tolerate without negatively impacting productivity and bean quality. Genetic variation in the response to higher temperatures needs to be clarified along with identification of farm



management practices to help protect against elevated temperature damage. Furthermore, a greater understanding of the extent to which VPD will change with increased temperatures is needed since this could further exacerbate temperature stress.

#### 4 Irradiance

As an understory, species in its natural habitat cacao can tolerate a low light environment. Overhead shade, typically provided by companion crops such as plantain, is required for early establishment of seedlings in the field as these are particularly sensitive to high light levels (Alvim 1977; Owusu 1978). Niether et al. (2018) measured light transmission through the canopy of various cacao-growing systems in Alto Beni in Bolivia. Above the canopy, under clear skies, light levels of between 1580 and 2028  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> were recorded depending on the time of year. Light levels within the canopy (1.3 m aboveground) varied depending on the growing system and pruning activity. In an open sun monoculture of cacao, where trees were grown at a spacing of  $4 \times$ 4 m, irradiance ranged from between 985 and 1546  $\mu mol\ m^{-2}\ s^{-1}$ before and after pruning, respectively. Within an agroforestry system, where cacao was combined with woody shade trees and banana or plantain, irradiance levels of between 243 and 1273  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> were recorded, before and after pruning, respectively. In a successional agroforestry system, where shade tree density is higher, light levels reached between 317 and 949  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> before and after pruning activity. Baligar et al. (2005) reported that high light levels  $(1050 \ \mu mol \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1})$  were detrimental to shoot, root and leaf growth of seedlings, and reduced uptake and influx of certain nutrients. In the first 3 months of establishment, high levels of shade are required, since there is little or no self-shading at this stage, but this can be reduced as the seedlings develop (Raja Harun and Kamariah 1983).

As a species tolerant to shade, maximum photosynthetic rate at the leaf level is achieved under relatively low light levels in cacao (Baligar et al. 2008). Saturation irradiances up to 400  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> have been reported for cacao (Raja Harun and Hardwick 1988b; Baligar et al. 2008), and genetic variation in saturation irradiance has also been identified (Daymond et al. 2011). Light compensation point (the irradiance level at which CO<sub>2</sub> uptake through photosynthesis and release through respiration are equal) has also been shown to vary across eight genotypes between 11.7 and 24.7  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> (Daymond et al. 2011). Raja Harun and Hardwick (1988b) observed a reduction in photosynthesis in cacao leaves exposed to irradiance levels above about 200  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> (i.e. below saturating intensity) after 3 h. At irradiances above 500  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, the rate of decline was more rapid and the reduction greater. Photosynthetic capacity declined linearly with exposure time

D Springer



and at light intensities between 200 and 800  $\mu mol~m^{-2}~s^{-1}.$ However, Balasimha et al. (1991) found that this depressive effect of irradiance was only observed when soil water was limiting, Galvuon et al. (1996a) reported higher photosynthetic rates in certain genotypes grown in full sunlight compared to under shade. The authors suggest that prolonged growth (17 weeks) at full sunlight resulted in acclimation to high irradiance with the production of thicker leaves, higher rates of E and higher stomatal densities. However, efficiency of PSII and electron transport rate declined in these sun leaves (Galyuon et al. 1996b), which suggests that photodamage may have occurred which over time may lead to photoinhibition. Miyaji et al. (1997a, b) also observed higher maximum photosynthetic rates in sun leaves compared to shade leaves in cacao, but the photosynthetic rate declined faster over the lifespan of the sun leaves while shade leaves maintained slower rates of photosynthesis but over longer periods. Similarly, higher respiration rates were recorded in the sun leaves resulting in lower net assimilation rates overall, especially as the relationship between photosynthesis and respiration was not the same throughout the lifespan of the leaf (Miyaji et al. 1997a). Leaf lifespan and turnover is related to carbon balance, photosynthetic carbon gain minus respiratory carbon loss for constructing and maintaining the leaves (Chabot and Hicks 1982). Galyuon et al. (1996a) observed that leaf area and relative growth rate declined at high irradiances, but flushing frequency increased which led to higher total leaf production. The increased flushing, flowering and yield of cacao in high light conditions may be explained by increased carbohydrate production made available through higher assimilation rates, as peaks in free sugar levels in the bark were seen to coincide with peaks in flowering and flushing (Owusu et al. 1978). Resource availability is essential when growing cacao in high light environments. Higher rates of photosynthesis and growth in these conditions can only be maintained if other resources (i.e. nutrients, water) are made available to sustain the increased productivity. Many of the studies described above have focussed on juvenile plants and/or on single leaf photosynthesis. In a mature canopy, self-shading will occur, and so lower leaves will not always reach light saturation, particularly in shaded systems. Thus, it is reasonable to assume that the greater yields often observed with shade removal are due to a greater proportion of the canopy being illuminated and hence higher canopy photosynthesis.

For many years, general practice was to grow cacao under shade of other trees, but there has been a trend towards reducing shade on cacao farms as higher light levels have been associated with increased yields (Ahenkorah et al. 1974). However, yields have also been reported to decline faster in these conditions (Obiri et al. 2007), particularly where no fertiliser is used (Ahenkorah et al. 1974). Canopy cover up to 39% has been shown in increase bean yields at the field level in Ghana compared to cacao grown in full sun, but increasing shade above this level can limit yields (Andres et al. 2018; Asare et al. 2018). While in Cameroon, increasing canopy cover up to 47% enhanced yield but greater than 60% cover caused yield limitations (Bisseleua et al. 2009). Growing cacao without shade will require more intensive management of the crop including increased fertiliser inputs to maintain such a system in the long term. Unshaded conditions will also increase evapotranspiration and could exacerbate soil moisture-deficit stress where access to irrigation is limited. The need for shade may not be required in all cacao-growing regions, and its applicability is dependent on local climate conditions. According to Beer et al. (1997), shade systems are likely to be most effective in hot, dry climates where they can help to create more favourable growing conditions through modification of the microclimate. Acheampong et al. (2013, 2015) reported higher  $g_s$  and photosynthetic rates during the dry season in cacao trees grown under heavy shade compared to those grown under lighter shade, but the opposite effect occurred during the wet season. These observations are likely to be due to lower VPD being maintained within the canopy in the heavy shade regime. As  $g_s$  is strongly negatively influenced by increased VPD (Sena Gomes et al. 1987; Raja Harun and Hardwick 1988a), the heavy shade helped ameliorate stress during the dry season by reducing VPD within the canopy. Similarly, Miyaji et al. (1997a) showed that leaves lower in the canopy (i.e. more shaded) maintained higher leaf water content (and likely leaf  $\Psi$ ) than those grown in unshaded conditions. Germplasm which can utilise low light levels more effectively will be essential to achieve high yield under shaded conditions, where shade trees may be used to ameliorate the microenvironment and/ or provide an additional crop through companion planting. Variation among genotypes in responsiveness to light environment has been identified. For example, leaf production, leaf area and stem dry weight varied between genotypes in response to light environment and genotypic differences in assimilate partitioning in response to light have been reported (Acheampong et al. 2013). Genotypic variation in the characteristics of cacao canopies has also been identified (Daymond et al. 2002); therefore, genotypes of cacao that have a more open structure with greater light penetration to the lower layers would be more suited to cultivation under shade. Furthermore, yield in mature cacao grown in Malaysia has been reported to be related to light distribution through the canopy (Yapp and Hadley 1994). This study demonstrated that light penetration through the canopy, rather than light interception, had a greater influence on yield in mature cacao with a closed canopy. This was attributed to a greater proportion of leaves lower in the canopy being exposed to higher irradiance, thereby

increasing canopy photosynthesis in trees with a more open structure.

#### 5 Carbon dioxide

Increases in CO<sub>2</sub> are predicted across the globe during this century, which is likely to have significant impacts on agriculture. However, very few studies examining the responses of cacao to elevated CO2 have been carried out to date. In recent years, detailed photosynthetic and biochemical analysis of another tropical perennial tree crop, coffee, has been carried out (Ramalho et al. 2013; Ghini et al. 2015; Da Matta et al. 2016). CO<sub>2</sub> is essential for photosynthesis and plant growth and at current concentrations limits photosynthetic rates in C<sub>3</sub> plants. Therefore, increases in the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> available for uptake by plants will have considerable effects on photosynthesis and plant growth. Increasing concentrations of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> generally impacts on photosynthesis by increasing photosynthetic rate, reducing  $g_s$  and E, and therefore, iWUE and IWUE are often improved. The increase in CO<sub>2</sub> concentration from 380 ppm (year 2000 level) to about 550-700 ppm has the potential to increase photosynthetic rates in C<sub>3</sub> plants by an average of about 38% (Long et al. 2004) with trees predicted to show the greatest response (Ainsworth and Long 2005). In cacao, elevated CO2 concentrations have resulted in increased photosynthetic rates both in instantaneous exposure studies and more long-term growth studies (Baligar et al. 2005, 2008; Lahive et al. 2018). Under elevated  $CO_2$  (700 ppm), vegetative growth was enhanced in seedlings, juvenile trees and mature pod-bearing trees, with increases in root, shoot and leaf dry weights, stem height, leaf area, root/shoot ratio and relative growth rate compared to plants grown at ambient  $CO_2$ . However, the growth enhancement appeared to be smaller in older trees compared to young trees or seedlings (Baligar et al. 2005; Lahive 2015; Lahive et al. 2018). Similarly, mango trees grown at 700 ppm accumulated more dry matter and a larger leaf area than those grown at ambient CO<sub>2</sub> (Schaffer et al. 1997). Photosynthesis in coffee does not appear to acclimate to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> in long-term growth studies; after 2-year growth at ca. 600 ppm, a 40% increase in photosynthetic rate was measured which was still apparent 2 years later (Ghini et al. 2015; Rakocevic et al. 2018). Nutrient uptake and nutrient use efficiency for several mineral nutrients including N were improved by growth at elevated  $CO_2$  (Baligar et al. 2005) while no such change in nutrient concentrations was seen in coffee plants grown at elevated CO<sub>2</sub> (Da Matta et al. 2016), and in mango, the concentration of several minerals decreased in leaves grown at elevated CO<sub>2</sub> relative to ambient CO<sub>2</sub> (Schaffer et al. 1997). In general, in  $C_3$  plants, increases in  $CO_2$  concentration cause a decline in  $g_s$ (Ainsworth and Rogers 2007) and in some cases a reduction in stomatal density (Woodward 1987). This has implications for



iWUE as water loss is reduced through stomatal restriction, and carbon uptake is increased (Brodribb et al. 2009; Cernusak et al. 2011). In a study of iWUE (measured via carbon isotope discrimination in tree rings) in tropical trees in Brazil, Hietz et al. (2005) concluded that iWUE increases in recent decades were due to increases in assimilation rate rather than declines in  $g_s$ . In cacao, the response of  $g_s$  to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> has varied between studies. Baligar et al. (2008) measured a 65% reduction in  $g_s$  as CO<sub>2</sub> concentration increased from 370 to 680 ppm, which resulted in improved iWUE. However, Lahive et al. (2018) did not observe any effect of  $CO_2$  on  $g_s$  in juvenile plants of the Amelonado variety grown at 700 ppm CO<sub>2</sub> for several months. The latter study also found that stomatal index increased in leaves which developed in an elevated CO<sub>2</sub> environment, a response contrary to trends among most C<sub>3</sub> species over the last century (Woodward 1987; Lammertsma et al. 2011). Stomatal conductance in coffee appears to remain unchanged in response to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> (Ramalho et al. 2013; Da Matta et al. 2016), but the response varied depending on position within the canopy (Rakocevic et al. 2018). Quantum efficiency was enhanced under elevated CO<sub>2</sub> with a concurrent decrease in light compensation point compared to plants grown under ambient CO2. This effect was dependent on soil moisture conditions with a greater improvement seen in well-watered plants compared to stressed plants (Lahive et al. 2018). In coffee, quantum efficiency, as well as instantaneous carboxylation efficiency, increased in response to elevated  $CO_2$  but only in leaves in the upper canopy (Rakocevic et al. 2018). Shade-tolerant species tend to have greater relative response to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> in terms of quantum efficiency and light utilisation than shade-intolerant species (Sefcik et al. 2006; Ellsworth et al. 2012), likely due to the greater responsiveness of stomata to lower light levels making more efficient use of available light (Woods and Turner 1971). Soil water status also influenced photosynthetic responses to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> as the reduction in photosynthesis due to water deficit was lessened under elevated CO<sub>2</sub> (Lahive 2015).

To date, only one study has been carried out examining pod development responses to elevated CO2. Following growth at 700 ppm  $CO_2$  for 2 years under greenhouse conditions, pod dry weight increased due to greater husk dry weight rather than bean weight. This enhancement was only observed in the second year of exposure suggesting that there was a lag between increases in assimilation rate at the leaf level in response to CO<sub>2</sub> and an observed increase in pod characteristics (Lahive 2015; Handley 2016). Changes to biomass partitioning within the fruiting organ has been demonstrated in other tropical perennials. Total fruit weight increased in macadamia and mango grown at elevated CO<sub>2</sub>; in macadamia, this was due to greater dry matter accumulation in the husk and kernel, and in mango, partitioning to the flesh of the fruit increased (Schaffer et al. 1999). The effect of elevated CO<sub>2</sub> on bean quality appears to be complicated with varying responses

Deringer



reported on the same trees over the 2 years. Competition for assimilates between vegetative and reproductive sinks may have a role in determining how bean quality is influenced by elevated  $CO_2$  (Handley 2016). The effect of  $CO_2$  on bean fat content appears to be dependent on soil moisture conditions, with higher fat content in beans developed in an elevated  $CO_2$ environment compared to those developed at ambient, but only when sufficient soil water was available (Handley 2016). In coffee, harvestable bean yield was higher in plants grown under elevated  $CO_2$  (Ghini et al. 2015). Similarly in avocado, mango and macadamia fruit retention increased in response to elevated  $CO_2$ , and in mango and macadamia, total fruit weight was also increased (Schaffer et al. 1999).

To date, CO<sub>2</sub> research in cacao has been carried out in greenhouses. In other species (generally annual temperate crops), it has been shown that the effect of elevated  $CO_2$  on photosynthesis and yield appears to be greatest in controlled environment-based studies and the magnitude of response is reduced in free air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment (FACE) systems which are more representative of field conditions (Leakey et al. 2009). There is a need to expand the research in relation to  $CO_2$ responses to get a clearer understanding of how cacao trees can be expected to CO<sub>2</sub> increases predicted in the future. As mentioned previously, there was a lag in the response of pod production to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> in cacao grown in greenhouse conditions (Handley 2016) which indicate that for a perennial crop like cacao, long-term studies are crucial to properly understand the dynamic responses to climate overtime which may be substantial in such a system. For example, a 17-year study of Citrus aurantium grown under elevated CO2 detailed the variation in response over time with the peak enhancement observed following 2 to 4-year exposure and a plateau in enhancement later in the study (Kimball et al. 2007).

#### 6 Interactions between climate variables

It is important to consider not only cacao responses to individual climate variables but also how these variables interact to influence growth and productivity of cacao. In cacao, very limited research has been performed in this area to date. The interactive nature of various climate variables on plant development can be quite significant. For example, respiratory losses are greatest at higher temperatures; however, elevated CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations can help to reduce respiratory losses through higher carboxylation rates (Morison and Lawlor 1999). Meta-analysis has suggested that the response of photosynthesis in C3 species to elevated CO2 was greater in plants grown at higher temperatures; however, this did not necessarily translate into a greater response of biomass production in FACE studies (Bishop et al. 2014). Generally speaking, as CO<sub>2</sub> increases, the temperature optimum for light saturated photosynthesis increases, the reduction in maximum quantum

yield associated with high temperatures is reduced and light compensation point, which increases at higher temperatures, is reduced (Long 1991). Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> helped to mitigate the negative effect of high temperatures on photosynthesis in coffee. The decline in photosynthesis in response to extreme high temperatures was significantly less severe in plants growing under elevated CO<sub>2</sub> compared to those grown at ambient CO<sub>2</sub> (Rodrigues et al. 2016). Photoinhibition in high-temperature stressed coffee was also lowered in plants grown under elevated CO<sub>2</sub>, likely through enhancement of protective and antioxidant mechanisms (Martins et al. 2016). However, such interactions have yet to be quantified in cacao. Similarly, in some cases, stress by water deficit has been ameliorated by growth at elevated CO<sub>2</sub> through various mechanisms including improved iWUE, maintenance of higher plant  $\Psi$  through reduced  $g_s$  and greater fine root production (Wullschleger et al. 2002). Enhanced iWUE under elevated CO<sub>2</sub> may slow the decline in soil moisture thereby delaying the onset of water-deficit stress. In a meta-analysis of FACE and OTC studies in C<sub>3</sub> plants, soil water was observed to play a significant role in determining the yield response to CO<sub>2</sub>, with the greatest relative increase in yield in response to CO<sub>2</sub> seen in drier soil conditions (Bishop et al. 2014). In young Amelonado trees, the negative effect of water deficit on growth and photosynthesis was reduced in those grown under elevated CO2 compared to ambient CO2-grown plants (Lahive et al. 2018). The impact of soil moisture deficit in combination with high-temperature stress needs to be studied in cacao as there is concern that water-deficit stress will be further increased by higher temperatures and greater evaporative demand. Improved light utilisation observed in young cacao trees grown under elevated CO<sub>2</sub> (Lahive et al. 2018) could prove beneficial where shaded conditions are used to reduce high-temperature stress. There is also a need to do more longterm studies, so the impact on yield over time can be assessed.

#### 7 Mitigating against climate change

#### 7.1 Crop husbandry

Irrigation is an obvious solution to combat soil water limitation in the field, and the positive effects of supplementary irrigation have been mentioned previously. However, it has not been widely adopted in West Africa due to practical limitations (e.g. the remoteness of smallholder farms from water supplies) and cost restrictions. There is a lack of informative studies on the impacts of irrigation in the field (Carr and Lockwood 2011). In India, 20 L of water per tree per day supplied by drip irrigation was determined as the ideal amount to achieve highest yields during the long dry season (December to May) (Abdul Haris et al. 1999). This treatment increased dry bean yields by 26% over 4 years compared to 10 L per tree per day. Hutcheon et al. (1973) also improved yields through irrigation in Ghana, with the greatest benefit observed during years with a severe dry season. These authors also noted that in conditions where there is a high evaporative demand, which is more likely to occur during dry conditions, the positive effect of irrigation is limited due to strong effect of VPD on  $g_s$  (Hutcheon et al. 1973). In Côte d'Ivoire, Jadin and Jacquemart (1978) compared the impact of sprinkler and drip irrigation on yields with a non-irrigated control. While both methods resulted in considerable increases in yield, the largest increases were observed with drip irrigation.

As a potential alternative to irrigation, plastic and organic mulching, in the form of coffee husks, has been shown to have a positive effect on soil moisture levels, leading to improvements in  $g_s$  and photosynthesis, and consequently establishment rates in certain genotypes of cacao (Acheampong et al. 2018). Mulching can have numerous beneficial effects including reducing evaporation from the soil thereby helping to conserve soil moisture, reducing soil temperature around the roots and reducing soil erosion (Prosdocimi et al. 2016 and references within). Organic mulches have the added benefit of adding nutrients to the soil through their decomposition. The early yields from cacao grown with coffee mulch were higher than that of trees grown with plastic mulch, with the authors attributing this to the joint effect of water conservation and nutrient addition (Acheampong et al. 2018). Cover crops can also be grown in the understory to perform a similar function to mulching (Baligar and Fageria 2007).

Bae et al. (2009) showed that tolerance to water deficit was significantly improved in cacao seedlings colonised with the endophytic fungus Trichoderma hamatum, which appeared to delay the initial response to stress. Root growth increased in plants colonised with the fungus, and the authors suggest that this may have improved water uptake or access to water by the roots of colonised plants and delayed the onset of drought. Cacao forms symbiosis with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) (Laycock 1945) which in other plant species have been shown to improve drought responses. The methods by which AMF enhance drought tolerance are varied including improved water and nutrient (especially P) acquisition and enhanced root growth (Augé 2001). Colonisation of cacao seedlings with native and exogenous AMF enhanced growth (Droh et al. 2016) and a range of species of AMF have been identified associated with cacao (Cuenca and Meneses 1996; Soumaila et al. 2012; Ramírez et al. 2016). The potential to exploit the positive effects of this relationship on cacao farms needs further exploration.

Growing cacao under shade trees may help to alleviate extreme temperature stress and soil water deficit during dry periods. In Bahia, Brazil, within the canopy of heavily shaded, 15-year-old cacao, planted at a density of  $3 \times 3$  m, de Miranda et al. (1994) demonstrated that temperature and relative humidity became uncoupled from outside temperatures. The



maximum difference in temperature measured outside and inside the layers of the cacao canopy were approximately 2  $(\pm 0.5)$  °C. Relative humidity within the canopy increased to a higher level than that recorded outside the canopy (de Miranda et al. 1994). In a more extreme case in Ghana, maximum air temperature differences of up to 7 °C were recorded between full sun and shaded systems. In the shade systems, VPD was also maintained at lower levels compared to the full sun system (Abdulai et al. 2018a). In contrast, a study in Ghana found that maximum air temperatures above the cacao canopy were not affected by shade, and while shade had positive effects on the lowest daily mean, highest minimum and the absolute minimum air temperature, the differences were always less than 1 °C (Asare et al. 2017). In the Bolivian Andes, shade provided by a variety of woody trees and banana reduced soil temperature and consequently lowered soil evaporation leading to higher soil moisture content in the uppermost soil layers compared to a monoculture system. Moreover, shaded cacao was less exposed to high temperatures and evapotranspiration which lowered the water demand of cacao (Niether et al. 2017). Cacao farmers in drier regions of Ghana incorporate more shade species at higher densities on their farms compared to farmers in the wet region (Abdulai et al. 2018b).

Selection of the appropriate shade species is essential to achieve the maximum benefits of shade, and the use of inappropriate shade trees can have a detrimental effect. This was demonstrated in a study in Ghana which showed that shading cacao with Albizia ferruginea or Antiaris toxicaria resulted in greater levels of mortality compared with non-shaded trees following a prolonged drought, even though the transpiration rate and sap flux density of shaded cacao was lower than that of full sun cacao. The greater mortality was attributed to noncomplementary resource use by the shade and cacao trees. Soil moisture content was depleted in the top 0.6 m of the soil profile suggesting that the cacao and shade trees were accessing watering from the same soil layers (Abdulai et al. 2018a). Köhler et al. (2009) demonstrated that increased shading from Gliricidia trees significantly increased maximum water use rates of associated cacao trees. Variation in the effect of different shade species on soil moisture content has been observed (Kyereh 2017). Gliricidia is often used as a shade tree on cacao farms. The root systems of these trees penetrate deeper than cacao roots therefore reducing competition for water between the two species (Moser et al. 2010). Clearly, the shade trees used need to be chosen careful so that water use is complementary and soil water is exploited regularly over the soil profile. Light penetration also needs to be considered when selecting shade trees. In this respect, more research is required to identify the optimal shade species and their planting density, and as demonstrated by Abdulai et al. (2018b), climatic conditions within a region also need to be considered when recommending shade tree species. Shade trees often grown on cacao farms include fruit trees such as

🖄 Springer



avocado, coconut, cashews and mango, or timber trees such as *Terminalia superba* and *Alstonia boonei* (Abdulai et al. 2018b). A detailed collation of information on shade species for use with cacao is provided by Asare (2005). Recommendations for best shade management practices in cacao have been outlined by Tscharntke et al. (2011).

#### 7.2 Identification of tolerant genotypes

It is likely that traits conferring tolerance to a variety of abiotic stresses may be beneficial across a range of stresses and highlights the importance of testing germplasm under various and interacting environmental conditions. Research has shown that breeding for resilience to multiple environmental stresses at the same time is the most effective way forward (Farrell et al. 2018). Interestingly, during a severe drought in the field in Brazil, cacao clones not selected for drought tolerance, but another beneficial trait (usually high yields or disease resistance) showed greater tolerance than hybrids or common Amelonado types. The authors suggest that this may be due to their selection in high-input, low-shade environments (Gateau-Rey et al. 2018). Breeding in cacao to date has largely focused on yields and pest and disease tolerance, with limited focus on breeding for climate resilience. However, according the Farrell et al. (2018), the cacao accessions currently available are sufficient for effective breeding to be achieved.

While cacao is sensitive to water deficit, there is evidence that some genotypes are more tolerant to water stress episodes. There is potential to exploit this variability to breed for varieties that are more tolerant to the more frequent and/or intense drought episodes that are predicted to occur in many cacao-growing regions. Balasimha and Daniel (1988) devised a screening method based on monitoring leaf  $\Psi$  on detached leaves as they dried out. The more tolerant genotypes tended to show a slower decline in leaf  $\Psi$  than more sensitive ones. Balasimha et al. (1988) attributed higher levels of drought tolerance in cacao to effective regulation of stomatal opening. However, Balasimha et al. (1991) found no difference in photosynthesis or  $g_s$  between genotypes determined as drought tolerant and sensitive but did note that the drought-tolerant genotypes were able to maintain less negative  $\Psi$  during the driest months of the year. Although there is no doubt that stomatal regulation is important in minimising water loss, other traits have also been identified which have the potential to act as selection traits. In a study of a range of TSH material in Trinidad, the genotypes most tolerant to water deficit showed little or no change in  $g_s$  and E and much earlier declines in  $g_s$ were associated with more sensitive genotypes (Antwi et al. 1994), suggesting that  $g_s$  alone may not be a suitable screening method. In the same study, the clone TSH 919 was identified as being particularly tolerant to water deficit as it maintained higher leaf  $\Psi$  during periods of soil moisture deficit. There were a number of traits that may have contributed to this clone's enhanced tolerance including changes to the pattern of root growth under water deficit (one adventitious root became dominant and developed into a tap root-like structure), basal leaves were shed more quickly in response to the stress compared to less tolerant clones, which allowed the upper leaves to maintain higher leaf  $\Psi$ , and leaf rolling towards the abaxial surface occurred which may have helped to reduce water loss by transpiration (Antwi et al. 1994).

Osmotic adjustment may also play a role in conferring soil water-deficit tolerance in some genotypes and appears to be genotype specific (e.g. Rada et al. 2005; Moser et al. 2010; Araque et al. 2012). Osmotic adjustment is an adaptive mechanism which, through the accumulation of solutes within cells, lowers the osmotic potential that attracts water into the cell and helps to maintain turgor. Increases in leaf K and P concentrations were observed in certain cacao genotypes as leaf  $\Psi$  fell below – 1.5 MPa, and this was suggested to have a role in osmotic adjustment (de Almeida and Valle 2007). In a study by dos Santos et al. (2014), decreases in N, P, K, Ca and Mg were seen in response to water deficit, and genotypes most sensitive to the stress had the greatest reductions in N, P and K compared to the non-stressed controls. The authors also reported that the ability to maintain levels of Ca and Mg under water deficit contributed to an increase in biomass and leaf area in the stress-tolerant genotypes compared to the well-watered controls (dos Santos et al. 2014). Araque et al. (2012) showed a correlation between osmotic adjustment and tree survival under water-deficit conditions in cultivars of Criollo cacao. Those cultivars that used osmotic adjustment to avoid stress were also highest yielding in dry conditions.

Dos Santos et al. (2014) reported eight variables sufficient to separate water deficit-tolerant and sensitive cacao genotypes. These variables were total leaf area per plant, root dry weight, stem dry weight, leaf dry weight, total dry weight, relative growth rate and Ca and Mg concentrations. While in a later study dos Santos et al. (2016) included the variables root length, root volume, root diameter (of roots <1 mm) and root diameter (of roots > 1 mm < 2 mm). The authors suggest that the high heritability of a number of these traits has the potential to be used in the selection of cacao genotypes with enhanced water-deficit tolerance (dos Santos et al. 2016). It is worth noting that most of these traits are measures of vigour. These may be useful in the selection of material for improved establishment under dry conditions. However, these traits could potentially accelerate the onset of soil moisture stress as vigorous growth will also place a greater demand on available soil water. Bae et al. (2008) identified correlations between the expression of genes encoding enzymes involved in polyamine biosynthesis and changes in  $g_s$ , photosynthesis, PSII efficiency and leaf  $\Psi$ . Polyamines play a role in plant responses to various stresses due to their antioxidant properties and their function in stabilising membranes and cell walls (Gill and Tuteja 2010). Increased activity of the antioxidant enzyme guaiacol peroxidase in response to water deficit has also been suggested as an indicator of water-deficit tolerance among cacao genotypes (dos Santos et al. 2014).

There is a need for a clear definition of what is meant by drought tolerance in cacao (and woody perennial crops in general). Probably, a more accurate term to use is resilience to soil water deficit that describes a plant that can recover quickly following a stress period and return to pre-stress performance levels soon after the stress has ended. When viewed from this perspective, plasticity in key stress response traits is important to identify. Plasticity in  $g_s$  has been an important trait used to identify drought tolerance in cacao. However, as yield is strongly linked to  $g_s$  in a range of crop species (Roche 2015) and is also strongly correlated with maximum photosynthetic rate in cacao (Daymond et al. 2011), research to develop drought resilient cacao needs to look beyond just minimising water loss and towards greater efficiency of water use in photosynthesis and biomass allocation to the beans.

Genetic variation in response to temperature has been shown in cacao in terms of photosynthetic responses, fruit growth and bean quality. Identification of genetic material with greater high-temperature tolerance as well as identification of physiological traits which confer this tolerance could be used in breeding cacao to maintain high productivity and bean quality under higher temperature conditions. However, relatively little work has been done in this area.

#### 8 Gaps in current research

## 8.1 Detailed understanding of physiological processes in cacao

For such an important crop, there are significant gaps in the current understanding of cacao physiology. The reasons for the relatively low photosynthetic rate of cacao are not fully understood, and how this links to yield and biomass allocation is an important area of physiological research. In coffee, low rates of photosynthesis have been attributed to low stomatal and mesophyll conductance and high hydraulic resistance (DaMatta et al. 2016). Endogenous and environmental control mechanisms of flowering and pod development are poorly understood in cacao. However, studies focused on the various aspects of reproductive physiology



in cacao are currently very limited. In addition to this, the cauliflorous nature of cacao results in the relatively unusual development of flowers and pods on the trunk and branches of the tree, some distance for the carbohydrate source of the leaves. The implications of this for carbohydrate storage, remobilisation and transport mechanisms within the tree are significant. Studies examining the mechanisms underlying biomass partitioning between leaves, roots and pods and the influence the environment has on partitioning between the organs are currently lacking. There is a need to study and model the carbohydrate partitioning between various organs and source/sink relations within the plant under stressful environmental conditions. The area of biomass partitioning is particularly important in a crop such as cacao which tends to favour vegetative over reproductive growth, often resulting in high pod losses through cherelle wilt. Historically, crop yield increases have been achieved through the alteration of biomass partitioning rather than changes in photosynthetic rate (Gifford and Evans 1981). An understanding of the mechanisms regulating these relationships within the plant is essential for the development of high yielding cacao under environmental stress. Belowground processes in cacao are an almost untouched area of research, understandable given the difficulty with measuring this in a tree crop. However, advances in imaging technology may help to progress this in the future (Judd et al. 2015 and references within). Research into cacao root systems will be integral in the development of water-deficit resilient germplasm, as improvements in soil water accessibility are an important strategy in this area. Rooting depth was identified as a key trait conferring drought tolerance in coffee (Pinheiro et al. 2005). Root stock effects and the identification of environment-specific root stocks could be utilised to enhance resilience to various environmental conditions. In grapevine, water deficit-tolerant rootstocks have been used to improve yield in conditions where water is limiting. Various mechanisms have been exploited to achieve this through improvements in water uptake and transport, ABA signalling from rootstocks to limit stomatal aperture and hydraulic signalling (Serra et al. 2013 and references within).

There is a need to understand better the upper temperatures at which cacao yields are significantly impacted and to quantify the duration of exposure to high temperature at which an impact occurs. A deeper understanding of how environmental stresses influence various physiological processes needs to be developed both in controlled environment/greenhouse studies and in the field.

#### 8.2 Interactive effects

So far, ecophysiological research in cacao has mainly focused on individual climate variables with limited focus

2 Springer



on interactions. While useful, single-factor studies are of limited use when attempting to predict plant responses to multiple interacting environmental variables. Identification of additive and interactive effects of various environmental variables will provide greater certainty in predictions of how cacao will respond to climate change. In other tree species, the amelioration of high temperature and water-deficit stress by elevated  $CO_2$  has been shown. For example, in coffee, tolerance to high temperatures, in relation to photosynthetic rate, PSII efficiency and electron transport rate, was enhanced by growth at elevated  $CO_2$  (Rodrigues et al. 2016). In peach seedlings, elevated CO2 enhanced iWUE in water stressed compared to well-watered plants (Centritto et al. 2002). However, the extent to which this may occur in cacao is unknown. The interaction between temperature and soil moisture is also of importance as rising temperatures could potentially exacerbate soil moisture through increased evaporation. The use of shade to mitigate against environmental stress has been suggested, but our understanding of the implications of various agroforestry systems on the physiology of cacao needs further development, as well as the identification of appropriate shade tree species, to ensure that these systems are used effectively to mitigate against environmental degradation and plant stress while also maintaining productivity. The influence of soil nutrition on various aspects of cacao physiology has not been discussed here. A detailed review of current research in this area can be found in van Vliet and Giller (2017). Nutrition plays a central role in many of the issues discussed here especially in relation to CO<sub>2</sub> elevation and utilisation of full sun-growing systems. To achieve maximum benefits under these environmental conditions and to understand the interactions between soil nutrition and environmental stress, further research in this area is warranted, especially in field studies.

#### 8.3 Linking physiological responses and their underlying genetic controls

The molecular controls underlying various physiological processes are largely unknown in cacao. Various molecular mechanisms involved in stress response have been identified in other plant species, but in cacao, this area of research is relatively underdeveloped. For example, aquaporin proteins have an important role in regulating plant-water relations. A putative aquaporin-encoding gene was repressed in cacao colonised with the endophytic fungus *T. hamatum*, and this was linked to a delay in the onset of water-deficit stress (Bae et al. 2009). Heat shock proteins are one important mechanism by which tolerance to high temperature is achieved. These proteins are involved in maintaining correct protein folding under stress which is essential for the maintenance of cell membranes (Wang et al. 2004). Mapping populations or genome-wide

association studies may be useful strategies in speeding up the identification of specific climate resilience traits and the incorporation of these into future breeding programmes. Farrell et al. (2018) have highlighted the fact that despite calls for one, no program is in place for climate change resilience breeding cacao. Cacao is lagging behind other major crops in the development of varieties capable of withstanding predicted changes in climate and long-term commitment, and coordination by the various partners is required to bring breeding efforts in cacao up to speed with other crops (Farrell et al. 2018).

## 8.4 Field-based studies on detailed physiological responses

Much of the research described in this review has been carried out in greenhouse conditions. While this is very useful in minimising the influence of non-treatment effects, it is not representative of the complexity of field conditions. It is also difficult to work with sufficient replication of mature trees in these conditions, so much of the information to date is based on seedlings and young trees which are physiologically quite different to mature trees. Therefore, it is essential that resilience traits identified in greenhouse studies are tested in field studies.

#### 9 Conclusion

For such an important crop species, there are critical research gaps in our understanding of cacao ecophysiology. Here, we have provided a review of the current state of the research related to cacao and its response to the environment. As we face climate uncertainty and greater variation in climate conditions, this area of research needs a new lease of life if cacao production is to meet the growing demand for chocolate worldwide. Taking a more holistic view of cacao productivity, by incorporating the various physiological processes underlying variations in yield and quality as well as obtaining a better understanding of how environmental conditions influence these processes, has the potential to speed up the development of higher yielding, more climate-resilient cacao varieties. In order for this to be most effective, it is vital that the cacao physiology and breeding communities work together in a coordinated effort to accelerate progress in this area and to ensure continued productivity thereby maintaining the livelihoods of millions of cacao farmers around the world.

Funding This study was funded by Cocoa Research UK.

#### **Compliance with ethical standards**

**Conflict of interest** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

**Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

#### References

- Abdul Haris A, Balasimha D, Sujatha S, Bhat R, Abdul Khader KB (1999) The influence of drip irrigation and fertilizer levels on yield and photosynthetic characteristics of cocoa in mixed cropping system with arecanut. J Plant Crops 27(2):131–135
- Abdulai I, Vaast P, Hoffmann MP, Asare R, Jassogne L, Van Asten P, Rötter RP, Graefe S (2018a) Cocoa agroforestry is less resilient to sub-optimal and extreme climate than cocoa in full sun. Glob Chang Biol 24(1):273–286. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13885
- Abdulai I, Jassogne L, Graefe S, Asare R, Van Asten P, Läderach P, Vaast P (2018b) Characterization of cocoa production, income diversification and shade tree management along a climate gradient in Ghana. PLoS ONE 13(4):1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0195777
- Acheampong K, Hadley P, Daymond AJ (2013) Photosynthetic activity and early growth of four cacao genotypes as influenced by different shade regimes under West African dry and wet season conditions. Exp Agric 49(1):31-42. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0014479712001007
- Acheampong K, Hadley P, Daymond AJ, Adu-Yeboah P (2015) The influence of shade and organic fertilizer treatments on the physiology and establishment of *Theobroma cacao* clones. Am J Exp Agric 6(6):347–360. https://doi.org/10.9734/AJEA/2015/15206
- Acheampong K, Daymond AJ, Adu-Yeboah P, Hadley P (2018) Improving field establishment of cacao (*Theobroma cacao*) through mulching, irrigation and shading. Exp Agric In Press
- Adjaloo MK, Oduro W, Banful BK (2012) Floral phenology of Upper Amazon cocoa trees: implications for reproduction and productivity of cocoa. ISRN Agron 2012:1–8. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/ 461674
- Ahenkorah Y, Akrofi GS, Adri AK (1974) The end of the first cocoa shade and manurial experiment at the Cocoa Research Institute of Ghana. J Hortic Sci 49(1):43–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221589. 1974.11514550
- Ainsworth EA, Long SP (2005) What have we learned from 15 years of free-air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment (FACE)? A meta-analytic review of the responses of photosynthesis, canopy properties and plant production to rising CO<sub>2</sub>. New Phytol 165(2):351–371. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1469-8137.2004.01224.x
- Ainsworth EA, Rogers A (2007) The response of photosynthesis and stomatal conductance to rising [CO<sub>2</sub>]: mechanisms and environmental interactions. Plant Cell Environ 30(3):258–270. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2007.01641.x
- Alban MKA, Apshara SE, Hebbar KB, Mathias TG, Severin A (2016) Morpho-physiological criteria for assessment of two-month-old cacao (*Theobroma cacao* L.) genotypes for drought tolerance. Indian J Plant Physiol 21(1):23–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40502-015-0195-y
- Ali FM (1969) Effects of rainfall on yield of cocoa in Ghana. Exp Agric 5(3):209–213. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0014479700004452
- Alvim P de T (1967) Eco-physiology of the cacao tree. In: Proceedings of the conference Internationale sur les Recherches Agronomiques Cacaoyères 1965, pp 23–35



🖄 Springer

- Alvim P de T (1977) Cacao. In: Ecophysiology of tropical crops. Academy Press, New York, pp 591–616
- Andres C, Blaser WJ, Dzahini-Obiatey HK, Ameyaw GA, Domfeh OK, Awiagah MA, Gattinger A, Schneider M, Offei SK, Six J (2018) Agroforestry systems can mitigate the severity of cocoa swollen shoot virus disease. Agric Ecosyst Environ 252:83–92. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.agee.2017.09.031
- Antwi A (1994) The effects of water deficit on growth and development in young cocoa plants. Dissertation, The University of the West Indies
- Antwi A, Lopez FB, McDavid CR, Spence J (1994) Leaf morphology and drought tolerance in cocoa. In: Proceedings of the 11th International Cocoa Research Conference 1993
- Apshara SE, Rajesh MK, Balasimha D (2013) Assessment of morphological, physiological and molecular characteristics of cocoa accessions from central and South America in relation to drought tolerance. J Plant Crops 41:389–397
- Araque O, Jaimez RE, Tezara W, Coronel I, Urich R, Espinoza W (2012) Comparative photosynthesis, water relations, growth and survival rates in juvenile Criollo cacao cultivars (*Theobroma cacao*) during dry and wet seasons. Exp Agric 48(4):513–522. https://doi.org/10. 1017/S0014479712000427
- Asare R (2005) Cocoa agroforests in West Africa: a look at activities on preferred trees in the farming systems. Forest and Landscape Working Papers no. 6–2005
- Asare R, Asare R, Asarte W, Markussen B, Raebild A (2017) Influences of shading and fertilization on on-farm yields of cocoa in Ghana. Exp Agric 53(3):416–431. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0014479716000466
- Asare R, Markussen B, Asare RA, Anim-Kwapong G, Ræbild A (2018) On-farm cocoa yields increase with canopy cover of shade trees in two agro-ecological zones in Ghana. Clim Dev:1–11. https://doi. org/10.1080/17565529.2018.1442805
- Augé RM (2001) Water relations, drought and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Mycorrhiza 11:3–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s005720100097
- Ávila-Lovera E, Coronel I, Jaimez R, Urich R, Pereyra G, Araque O (2016) Ecophysiological traits of adult trees of Criollo cocoa cultivars (*Theobroma cacao* L.) from a germplasm bank in Venezuela. Exp Agric 52(1):137–153. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0014479714000593
- Bae H, Kim S-H, Kim MS, Sicher RC, Lary D, Strem MD, Natarajan S, Bailey BA (2008) The drought response of *Theobroma cacao* (cacao) and the regulation of genes involved in polyamine biosynthesis by drought and other stresses. Plant Physiol Biochem 46(2): 174–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2007.10.014
- Bae H, Sicher RC, Kim MS, Kim S-H, Strem MD, Melnick RL, Bailey BA (2009) The beneficial endophyte *Trichoderma hamatum* isolate DIS 219b promotes growth and delays the onset of the drought response in *Theobroma cacao*. J Exp Bot 60(11):3279–3295. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erp165
- Balasimha D (1993) Stomatal conductance and photosynthesis in cocoa trees. Plant Physiol Biochem 20(1):16–18
- Balasimha D, Daniel EV (1988) A screening method for drought tolerance in cocoa. Curr Sci 57(7):395
- Balasimha D, Rajagopal V, Daniel EV, Nair RV, Bhagavan S (1988) Comparative drought tolerance of cacao accessions. Trop Agric (Trinidad) 65:271–274
- Balasimha D, Daniel EV, Bhat PG (1991) Influence of environmental factors on photosynthesis in cocoa trees. Agric For Meteorol 55(1–2):15–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-1923(91)90019-M
- Baligar VC, Fageria N (2007) Agronomy and physiology of tropical cover crops. J Plant Nutr 30(8):1287–1339. https://doi.org/10. 1080/01904160701554997
- Baligar VC, Bunce JA, Bailey BA, Machado C, Pomella AWV (2005) Carbon dioxide and photosynthetic photon flux density effects on

🖄 Springer



growth and mineral uptake of cacao. J Food Agric Environ 3(2): 142–147. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11099-008-0035-7

- Baligar VC, Bunce JA, Machado RCR, Elson MK (2008) Photosynthetic photon flux density, carbon dioxide concentration and vapour pressure deficit effects on photosynthesis in cacao seedlings. Photosynthetica 46(2):216–221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11099-008-0035-7
- Bastide P, Aguilar P, Lachenaud Ph, Paulin D, Jimmy I, Bouletare G (2009) Yield variation and biomass measurements on mature cocoa trees in Vanuatu. In: Proceedings from the 15<sup>th</sup> International Cocoa Research Conference 2006, pp 291–297
- Beer J, Muschler R, Kass D, Somarriba E (1997) Shade management in coffee and cacao plantations. Agrofor Syst 38(1–3):139–164. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005956528316
- Bertolde FZ, de Almeida A-AF, Corrêa RX, Gomes FP, Gaiotto FA, Baligar VC, Loguercio LL (2010) Molecular, physiological and morphological analysis of waterlogging tolerance in clonal genotypes of *Theobroma cacao* L. Tree Physiol 30(1):56–67. https:// doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpp101
- Bertolde FZ, Almeida A-AF, Pirovani CP, Gomes FP, Ahnert D, Baligar VC, Valle RR (2012) Physiological and biochemical responses of *Theobroma cacao* L. genotypes to flooding. Photosynthetica 50(3): 447–457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11099-012-0052-4
- Bertolde FZ, Almeida A-AF, Pirovani C (2014) Analysis of gene expression and proteomic profiles of clonal genotypes from *Theobroma cacao* subjected to soil flooding. PLoS One 9. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0108705
- Biasutti M (2013) Forced Sahel rainfall trends in the CMIP5 archive. J Geophys Res Atmos 118:1613–1623. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgrd. 50206
- Bishop K, Leakey ADB, Ainsworth EA (2014) How seasonal temperature or water inputs affect the relative response of C<sub>3</sub> crops to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>]: a global analysis of open top chamber and free air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment studies. Food Energy Secur 3(1):33–45. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/fes3.44
- Bisseleua DHB, Missoup AD, Vidal S (2009) Biodiversity conservation, ecosystem functioning, and economic incentives under cocoa agroforestry intensification. Conserv Biol 23(5):1176–1184. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01220.x
- Bita CE, Gerats T (2013) Plant tolerance to high temperature in a changing environment: scientific fundamentals and production of heat stress-tolerant crops. Front Plant Sci 4:273. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fpls.2013.00273
- Bridgland LA (1953) Study of the relationship between cacao yield and rainfall. Papua and New Guinea Agricultural Gazette 8:7–14. In: Fordham R (1972) The water relations of cacao. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Cocoa Research Conference. pp 320–325
- Brodribb TJ, McAdam SAM, Jordan GJ, Field TS (2009) Evolution of stomatal responsiveness to CO<sub>2</sub> and optimization of water-use efficiency among land plants. New Phytol 183(3):839–847. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02844.x
- Canvin DT (1965) The effects of temperature on the oil content and fatty acid composition of the oils from several oil seed crops. Can J Bot 43(1):63–69. https://doi.org/10.1139/b65-008
- Carr MKV, Lockwood G (2011) The water relations and irrigation requirements of cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.): a review. Exp Agric 47(4):653–676. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0014479711000421
- Centritto M, Lucas ME, Jarvis PG (2002) Gas exchange, biomass, wholeplant water-use efficiency and water uptake of peach (*Prunus persica*) seedlings in response to elevated carbon dioxide concentration and water availability. Tree Physiol 22(10):699–706. https://doi. org/10.1093/treephys/22.10.699
- Cernusak LA, Winter K, Martínez C, Correa E, Aranda J, Garcia M, Jaramillo C, Turner BL (2011) Responses of legume versus nonlegume tropical tree seedlings to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> concentration. Plant Physiol 157(1):372–385. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.111.182436

- Chabot B, Hicks D (1982) The ecology of leaf life spans. Rev Ecol Evol Syst 13(1):229–259. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.13.110182. 001305
- Chairun Nisa Haris T (1988) Seed formation and development in cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.). dissertation, University Putra Malaysia
- Cuenca G, Meneses E (1996) Diversity patterns of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi associated with cacao in Venezuela. Plant Soil 183:315– 322. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00011447
- Da Silva Branco MC, de Almeida A-AF, Dalmolin AC, Ahnert D, Baligar VC (2017) Influence of low light intensity and soil flooding on cacao physiology. Sci Hortic 217:243–257. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.SCIENTA.2017.01.038
- DaMatta FM, Godoy AG, Menezes-Silva PE, Martins SCV, Lílian MPV, Morais SLE, Torre-Neto A, Ghini R (2016) Sustained enhancement of photosynthesis in coffee trees grown under free-air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment conditions: disentangling the contributions of stomatal, mesophyll, and biochemical limitations. J Exp Bot 67(1):341–352. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv463
- Dante RA, Larkins BA, Sabelli PA (2014) Cell cycle control and seed development. Front Plant Sci 5:493. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls. 2014.00493
- Daymond AJ (2000) An investigation into physiological parameters underlying yield variation between different varieties of cocoa. Dissertation, University of Reading
- Daymond AJ, Hadley P (2004) The effects of temperature and light integral on early vegetative growth and chlorophyll fluorescence of four contrasting genotypes of cacao (*Theobroma cacao*). Ann Appl Biol 145(3):257–262. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.2004. tb00381.x
- Daymond AJ, Hadley P (2008) Differential effects of temperature on fruit development and bean quality of contrasting genotypes of cacao (*Theobroma cacao*). Ann Appl Biol 153(2):175–185. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.2008.00246.x
- Daymond AJ, Hadley P (2011) Analysis of physiological data from the International Clone Trial (ICT) at the University of Reading. In: Collaborative and participatory approaches to cocoa variety improvement. Final report of the CFC/ICCO/Bioversity International Project on "Cocoa Productivity and Quality Improvement: A Participatory Approach" (2004–2010). CFC, Amsterdam, the Netherlands/ ICCO, London, UK/ Bioversity International, Rome, pp 142–149
- Daymond AJ, Hadley P, Machado RCR, Ng E (2002) Genetic variability in partitioning to the yield component of cacao (*Theobroma cacao* L.). HortScience 37(5):799–801
- Daymond AJ, Tricker PJ, Hadley P (2011) Genotypic variation in photosynthesis in cacao is correlated with stomatal conductance and leaf nitrogen. Biol Plant 55(1):99–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10535-011-0013-y
- De Almeida A-AF, Valle RR (2007) Ecophysiology of the cacao tree. Braz J Plant Physiol 19(4):425–448. https://doi.org/10.1590/ S1677-04202007000400011
- De Almeida J, Tezara W, Herrera A (2016) Physiological responses to drought and experimental water deficit and waterlogging of four clones of cacao (*Theobroma cacao* L.) selected for cultivation in Venezuela. Agric Water Manag 171:80–88. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.agwat.2016.03.012
- De Miranda RAC, Milde LCE, Bichara AL, Cornell S (1994) Daily characterisation of air temperature and relative humidity profiles in a cocoa plantation. Pesq Agrop Brasileira 29:345–353
- Delgado C, Penn J, Couturier G (2016) Status of cacao trees following seasonal floods in major watersheds of the Peruvian Amazon. Agric Sci 4(2):15–24. https://doi.org/10.12735/as.v4n2p15
- Deng X, Joly RJ, Hahn DT (1989) Effects of plant water deficit on the daily carbon balance of leaves of cacao seedlings. Physiol Plant 77(3):407–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.1989.tb05661. x

- Deng X, Joly RJ, Hahn DT (1990a) The influence of plant water deficit on distribution of <sup>14</sup>C-labelled assimilates in cacao seedlings. Ann Bot 66:211–217. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob. a088017
- Deng X, Joly RJ, Hahn DT (1990b) The influence of plant water deficit on photosynthesis and translocation of <sup>14</sup>C-labeled assimilates in cacao seedlings. Physiol Plant 78(4):623–627. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1399-3054.1990.tb05251.x
- Djan E, Lowor ST, Dogbatse J, Owusu-Ansah F, Padi FK (2018) A possible role for potassium in mediating cacao seedling responses to soil water stress. In: Proceedings of the 2017 International Symposium on Cocoa Research
- Dos Santos EA, de Almeida A-AF, Ahnert D, da Conceição AS, Pirovani CP, Pires JL, Valle RR, Baligar VC (2014) Molecular, physiological and biochemical responses of *Theobroma cacao* L. genotypes to soil water deficit. PLoS One 9(12):e115746. https://doi.org/10.11371/ journal.pone.0115746
- Dos Santos EA, de Almeida A-AF, Ahnert D, da Silva Branco MC, Valle RR, Baligar VC (2016) Diallel analysis and growth parameters as selection tools for drought tolerance in young *Theobroma cacao* plants. PLoS One 11(8):e0160647. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0160647
- Droh G, Kouassi A-B, Kouadjo ZCG, Zeze A, Nguetta AS-P, Sanders IR (2016) Effect of two AMF on growth of cocoa seedlings (*Theobroma cacao* L.) in greenhouses. Glob J Adv Res 3(3):157– 164
- Ellsworth DS, Thomas R, Crous KY, Palmroth D, Ward E, Maier C, DeLucia E, Oren R (2012) Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> affects photosynthetic responses in canopy pine and subcanopy deciduous trees over 10 years: a synthesis from Duke FACE. Glob Chang Biol 18(1):223–242. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02505.x
- End MJ (1990) A study of the effects of the photo-thermal environment on fruit and seed growth and development in *Theobroma cacao* L. Dissertation, University of Reading
- End MJ, Hadley P, Pettipher GL (1988) Long- and short-term studies of the growth of cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.) pods in relation to photothermal environment. In: proceedings of the 10th International Cocoa Research Conference, pp 219–223
- Erneholm I (1948) Cacao production in South America, historical development and present geographical distribution. Gothenburg, Sweden.In: Alvim P (1977) Cacao. In: Ecophysiology of tropical crops. Academy Press, New York, pp 279–313
- Falk U (2004) Turbulent fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O and energy in the atmospheric boundary layer above tropical vegetation investigated by eddy-covariance measurements. Dissertation, Georg-August-Universität zu Gottingen
- Farquhar GD, Sharkey TD (1982) Stomatal conductance and photosynthesis. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 33(1):317–345. https://doi.org/10. 1146/annurev.pp.33.060182.001533
- Farrell AD, Rhiney K, Eitzinger A, Umaharan P (2018) Climate adaptation in a minor crop species: is the cocoa breeding network prepared for climate change? Agroecol Sustain Food Syst 42(7):812–833. https://doi.org/10.1080/21683565.2018.1448924
- Fishman S, Bertin N, Génard M (2002) Cell division and cessation of cell proliferation in growing fruit. Acta Hortic (584):125–131. https:// doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2002.584.14
- Galyuon IKA, CR MD, Lopez FB, Spence JA (1996a) The effect of irradiance level on cocoa: I. Growth and leaf adaptations. Trop Agric (Trinidad) 73:23–28
- Galyuon IKA, CR MD, Lopez FB, Spence JA (1996b) The effect of irradiance level on cacao (*Theobroma cacao* L.): II. Gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence. Trop Agric (Trinidad) 73:29–33
- Gateau-Rey L, Tanner EVJ, Rapidel B, Marelli JP, Royaert S (2018) Climate change could threaten cocoa production: effects of 2015-2016 El Niño-related drought on cocoa agroforests in Bahia, Brazil.



PLoS ONE 13(7):1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0200454

- Ghini R, Torre-Neto A, Dentzien AFM, Guerreiro-Filho O, Iost R, Patrício FRA, Prado JSM, Thomaziello RA, Bettiol W, DaMatta FM (2015) Coffee growth, pest and yield responses to free-air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment. Clim Chang 132(2):307–320. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10584-015-1422-2
- Gifford RM, Evans LT (1981) Photosynthesis, carbon partitioning, and yield. Ann Rev Plant Physiol 32:485–509
- Gill SS, Tuteja N (2010) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Plant Physiol Biochem 48(12):909–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2010. 08.016
- Hadley P, Acheampong K, Pearson S, End MJE, Weis E (1994) The effects of environmental factors on cherelle wilt in coccoa grown in controlled environments. In: Proceedings of the 11<sup>th</sup> International Coccoa Research Conference, pp 661–666
- Handley LR (2016) The effects of climate change on the reproductive development of *Theobroma cacao* L. Dissertation, University of Reading
- Hernandez AP, Cock JH, El-Sharkawy MA (1989) The responses of stomatal conductance to air humidity in shade-grown coffee, tea and cacao plants as compared with sunflower. Rev Bras Fisiol Veg 1:155–161
- Hietz P, Wanek W, Dünisch O (2005) Long-term trends in cellulose δ<sup>13</sup>C and water-use efficiency of tropical *Cedrela* and *Swietenia* from Brazil. Tree Physiol 25(6):745–752. https://doi.org/10.1093/ treephys/25.6.745
- Hutcheon WV, Smith RW, Asomaning JA (1973) Effect of irrigation on the yield and physiological behaviour of mature Amelonado cocoa in Ghana. Trop Agric (Trinidad) 50(4):261–272
- ICCO (International Cocoa Organization) (2017). Quarterly Bulletin Of Cocoa Statistics, Vol XLIII - No. 3 - Cocoa year 2016/2017
- IPCC: Summary for Policymakers (2013) In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York, pp 3–29. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Jadin P, Jacquemart JP (1978) Effet de l'irrigation sur la précocité des jeunes cacaoyers. Café Cacao Thé 22:31–36
- Joly RJ, Hahn DT (1989) An empirical model for leaf expansion in cacao in relation to plant water deficit. Ann Bot 64(1):1–8. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob.a087800
- Joly RJ, Hahn DT (1991) Net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation of cacao seedlings following dark chilling. Tree Physiol 9(3):415–424. https://doi.org/10. 1093/treephys/9.3.415
- Judd LA, Jackson BE, Fonteno WC (2015) Advancements in root growth measurement technologies and observation capabilities for container-grown plants. Plants 4(3):369–392. https://doi.org/10. 3390/plants4030369
- Kimball BA, Idso SB, Johnson S, Rillig MC (2007) Seventeen years of carbon dioxide enrichment of sour orange trees: final results. Glob Chang Biol 13(10):2171–2183. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01430.x
- Köhler M, Dierick D, Schwendenmann L, Hölscher D (2009) Water use characteristics of cacao and *Gliricidia* trees in an agroforest in Central Sulawesi, Indonesia. Ecohydrology 2(4):520–529. https:// doi.org/10.1002/eco.67
- Kotowska MM, Hertel D, Rajab YA, Barus H, Schuldt B (2015) Patterns in hydraulic architecture from roots to branches in six tropical tree species from cacao agroforestry and their relation to wood density and stem growth. Front Plant Sci 6:191. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls. 2015.00191
- Kummerow J, Kummerow M, Souza da Silva W (1982) Fine-root growth dynamics in cacao (*Theobroma cacao*). Plant Soil 65:193–201. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02374650

🖄 Springer



- Kyereh D (2017) Shade trees in cocoa agroforestry systems in Ghana: influence on water and light availability in dry seasons. J Agric Ecol Res Int 10(2):1–7. https://doi.org/10.9734/JAERI/2017/31227
- Läderach P, Martinez-Valle A, Schroth G, Castro N (2013) Predicting the future climatic suitability for cocoa farming of the world's leading producer countries, Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire. Clim Chang 119(3–4): 841–854. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-0774-8
- Lahive F (2015) An examination of the impacts of climate change variables on growth and photosynthesis in *Theobroma cacao* L. Dissertation, University of Reading
- Lahive F, Hadley P, Daymond AJ (2018) The impact of elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and water deficit stress on growth and photosynthesis of juvenile cacao (*Theobroma cacao* L.). Photosynthetica 56(3):911–920. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11099-017-0743-y
- Lammertsma EI, de Boer HJ, Dekker SC, Dilcher DL, Lotter AF, Wagner-Cremer F (2011) Global CO<sub>2</sub> rise leads to reduced maximum stomatal conductance in Florida vegetation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(10):4035–4040. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1100371108
- Laycock DH (1945) Preliminary investigations into the function of the endotrophic mycorrhiza of *Theobroma cacao* L. Trop Agric XXII: 77–80
- Leakey ADB, Ainsworth EA, Bernacchi CJ, Alistair R, Long SP, Ort DR (2009) Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> effects on plant carbon, nitrogen, and water relations: six important lessons from FACE. J Exp Bot 60(10):2859– 2876. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erp096
- Long SP (1991) Modification of the response of photosynthetic productivity to rising temperature by atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations - has its importance been underestimated. Plant Cell Environ 14(8):729– 739. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.1991.tb01439.x
- Long SP, Ainsworth EA, Rogers A, Ort DR (2004) Rising atmospheric carbon dioxide: plants FACE the future. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55(1): 592–628. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.55.031903. 141610
- Machado RCR, Alvim PT, Milde LCE (1981) Physiological reaction of cacao to water deficiency in the soil. In: Proceedings Of The 7th International Cocoa Research Conference, pp 121–127
- Malhi Y, Wright J (2004) Spatial patterns and recent trends in the climate of tropical rainforest regions. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 359(1443):311–329. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2003.1433
- Marketsandmarkets (2011) Global chocolate, cocoa beans, lecithin, sugar and vanilla market by market share, trade, prices, geography trend and forecast (2011–2016). https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/ Market-Reports/global-chocolate-market-164.html. Accessed 5 December 2017
- Martins MQ, Rodrigues WP, Fortunato AS, Leitão AE, Rodrigues AP, Pais IP, Martins LD, Silva MJ, Reboredo FH, Partelli FL, Campostrini E, Tomaz MA, Scotti-Campos P, Ribeiro-Barros AI, Lidon FJC, DaMatta FM, Ramalho JC (2016) Protective response mechanisms to heat stress in interactions with high [CO<sub>2</sub>] conditions in *coffea* spp. Front Plant Sci 7:947. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls. 2016.00947
- Meinzer FC, Saliendra NZ, Crisosto C (1992) Carbon isotope discrimination and gas exchange in *coffea Arabica* during adjustment to different soil moisture regimes. Funct Plant Biol 19(2):171–184. https://doi.org/10.1071/PP9920171
- Miyaji K-I, da Silva WS, Alvim P de T (1997a) Productivity of leaves of a tropical tree, *Theobroma cacao*, grown under shading, in relation to leaf age and light conditions within the canopy. New Phytol 137(3): 463–472. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00841.x
- Miyaji K-I, da Silva WS, Alvim PDET (1997b) Longevity of leaves of a tropical tree, *Theobroma cacao*, grown under shading, in relation to position within the canopy and time of emergence. New Phytol 13(3)5:445–454. doi: https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997. 00667.x

- Mohd Razi I, Abd Halim H, Kamariah D, Mohd Noh J (1992) Growth, plant water relation and photosynthesis rate of young *Theobroma cacao* as influenced by water stress. Pertanika 15(2):93–98
- Morison JIL, Lawlor DW (1999) Interactions between increasing CO<sub>2</sub> concentration and temperature on plant growth. Plant Cell Environ 22(6):659–682. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.1999.00443.x
- Moser G, Leuschner C, Hertel D, Hölscher D, Köhler M, Leitner D, Michalzik B, Prihastanti E, Tjitrosemito S, Schwendenmann L (2010) Response of cocoa trees (*Theobroma cacao*) to a 13-month desiccation period in Sulawesi, Indonesia. Agrofor Syst 79(2):171– 187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-010-9303-1
- Muñoz G, Grieser J (2006) CLIMWAT 2.0 for CROPWAT. http://www. fao.org/land-water/databases-and-software/climwat-for-cropwat/ en/. Accessed 19 October 2017
- Niether W, Schneidewind U, Armengot L, Adamtey N, Schneider M, Gerold G (2017) Spatial-temporal soil moisture dynamics under different cocoa production systems. Catena 158:340–349. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2017.07.011
- Niether W, Armengot L, Andres C, Schneider M, Gerold G (2018) Shade trees and tree pruning alter throughfall and microclimate in cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.) production systems. Ann For Sci 75(2):38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-018-0723-9
- Nygren P, Leblanc HA, Lu M, Gómez Luciano CA (2013) Distribution of coarse and fine roots of *Theobroma cacao* and shade tree *Inga edulis* in a cocoa plantation. Ann For Sci 70(3):229–239. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13595-012-0250-z
- O'Brien MJ, Leuzinger S, Philipson CD, Tay J, Hector A (2014) Drought survival of tropical tree seedlings enhanced by non-structural carbohydrate levels. Nat Clim Chang 4:710–714. https://doi.org/10.1038/ NCLIMATE2281
- Obiri BD, Bright GA, McDonald MA, Anglaaere LCN, Cobbina J (2007) Financial analysis of shaded cocoa in Ghana. Agrofor Syst 71(2): 139–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-007-9058-5
- Owusu JK (1978) Light requirements of cocoa: a review. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Cocoa and Coconuts, pp 112– 121
- Owusu JK, Adomako D, Hutcheon WV (1978) Seasonal changes in total free sugar content of field cocoa plants. Physiol Plant 44(1):43–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.1978.tb01611.x
- Pinheiro HA, DaMatta FM, Chaves ARM, Loureiro ME, Ducatti C (2005) Drought tolerance is associated with rooting depth and stomatal control of water use in clones of *coffea canephora*. Ann Bot 96(1):101–108. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mci154
- Prosdocimi M, Tarolli P, Cerdà A (2016) Mulching practices for reducing soil water erosion: a review. Earth Sci Rev 161:191–203. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.EARSCIREV.2016.08.006
- Quinlan J, Preston A (1971) The influence of shoot competition on fruit retention and cropping of apple trees. J Hortic Sci 46(4):525–534. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221589.1971.11514431
- Rada F, Jaimez RE, García-Núñez C, Azócar A, Ramírez ME (2005) Water relations and gas exchange in *Theobroma cacao* var. Guasare under periods of water deficit. Rev Fac Agron 22(2):112– 120
- Radersma S, de Ridder N (1996) Computed evapotranspiration of annual and perennial crops at different temporal and spatial scales using published parameter values. Agric Water Manag 31(1–2):17–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-3774(95)01235-4
- Raja Harun RM, Hardwick K (1988a) The effect of different temperatures and water vapour pressure deficits on photosynthesis and transpiration of cocoa leaves. In: Proceedings of the 10th International Cocoa Research Conference 1987, pp 211–214
- Raja Harun RM, Hardwick K (1988b) The effects of prolonged exposure to different light intensities on the photosynthesis of cocoa leaves.In: Proceedings of the 10th International Cocoa Research Conference 1987, pp 205–209

- Raja Harun RM, Kamariah HI (1983) The effects of shading regimes on the growth of cocoa seedlings. Pertanika 6(3):1–5
- Rakocevic M, Ribeiro RV, Ribeiro Marchiori PE, Filizola HF, Batista ER (2018) Structural and functional changes in coffee trees after 4 years under free air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment. Ann Bot 121(5):1065–1078. https:// doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcy011
- Ramalho JC, Rodrigues AP, Semedo JN, Pais IP, Martins LD, Simões-Costa MC, Leitão AE, Fortunato AS, Batista-Santos P, Palos IM, Tomaz MA, Scotti-Campos P, Lidon FC, DaMatta FM (2013) Sustained photosynthetic performance of coffea spp. under longterm enhanced [CO<sub>2</sub>]. PLoS ONE 8(12):e82712. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0082712
- Ramírez JG, Osorno L, Osorio NW (2016) Presence of mycorrhizal fungi and a fluorescent *Pseudomonas* sp. in the rhizosphere of cacao in two agroecosystems and their effects on cacao seedling growth. Agron Colomb 34(3):385–392. https://doi.org/10.15446/agron. colomb.v34n3.57950
- Roche D (2015) Stomatal conductance is essential for higher yield potential of C<sub>3</sub> crops. Crit Rev Plant Sci 34(4):429–453. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/07352689.2015.1023677
- Rodrigues WP, Martins MQ, Fortunato AS, Rodrigues AP, Semedo JN, Simões-Costa MC, Pais IP, Leitão AE, Colwell F, Goulao L, Máguas C, Maia R, Partelli FL, Campostrini E, Scotti-Campos P, Ribeiro-Barros AI, Lidon FC, DaMatta FM, Ramalho JC (2016) Long-term elevated air [CO<sub>2</sub>] strengthens photosynthetic functioning and mitigates the impact of supra-optimal temperatures in tropical *Coffea arabica* and *C. canephora* species. Glob Chang Biol 22(1):415–431. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13088
- Saini HS, Westgate ME (2000) Reproductive development in grain crops during drought. Adv Agron 68:59–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0065-2113(08)60843-3
- Sale PJM (1968) Flushing and leaf growth of cacao under controlled temperature conditions. J Hortic Sci 43(4):475–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221589.1968.11514275
- Sale PJM (1969a) Flowering of cacao under controlled temperature conditions. J Hortic Sci 44:163–173
- Sale PJM (1969b) Extension growth of cacao under controlled temperature conditions. J Hortic Sci 44(2):4189–4193. https://doi.org/10. 1080/00221589.1969.11514297
- Sale PJM (1970) Growth, flowering and fruiting of cacao under controlled soil moisture conditions. J Hortic Sci 45(2):99–118. https:// doi.org/10.1080/00221589.1970.11514337
- Schaffer B, Whiley A, Searle C, Nissen R (1997) Leaf gas exchange, dry matter partitioning, and mineral element concentrations in mango as influenced by elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide and root restriction. J Am Soc Hortic Sci 122(6):849–855
- Schaffer B, Whiley A, Searle C (1999) Atmospheric  $CO_2$  enrichment, root restriction, photosynthesis, and dry matter partitioning in sub-tropical and tropical fruit crops. Hortscience 34(6):1033–1037
- Schroth G, Läderach P, Matinez-Valle AI, Bunn C, Jassogne L (2016) Vulnerability to climate change of cocoa in West Africa: patterns, opportunities and limitations to adaptation. Sci Total Environ 556: 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2016.03.024
- Schwendenmann L, Veldkamp E, Moser G, Hölscher D, Köhler M, Clough Y, Anas I, Djajakirana G, Erasmi S, Hertel D, Leitner D, Leuschner C, Michalzik B, Propastin P, Tjoa A, Tscharntkes T, van Straaten O (2010) Effects of an experimental drought on the functioning of a cacao agroforestry system, Sulawesi, Indonesia. Glob Chang Biol 16(5):1515–1530. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486. 2009.02034.x
- Sefcik LT, Zak DR, Ellsworth DS (2006) Photosynthetic responses to understory shade and elevated carbon dioxide concentration in four northern hardwood tree species. Tree Physiol 26(12):1589–1599
- Sena Gomes AR, Kozlowski T (1986) The effects of flooding on water relations and growth of *Theobroma cacao* var. Catongo seedlings. J



Hortic Sci 61(2):265–276. https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.1986. 11515700

- Sena Gomes AR, Kozlowski TT (1987) Effects of temperature on growth and water relations of cacao (*Theobroma cacao* var. Comum) seedlings. Plant Soil 103(1):3–11. https://doi.org/10.2307/42936792
- Sena Gomes AR, Kozlowski TT, Reich PB (1987) Some physiological responses of *Theobroma cacao* var. Catongo seedlings to air humidity. New Phytol 107(3):591–602. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1987.tb02929.x
- Serra I, Strever A, Myburgh PA, Deloire A (2013) Review: the interaction between rootstocks and cultivars (*Vitis vinifera* L.) to enhance drought tolerance in grapevine. Aust J Grape Wine Res 20(1):1– 14. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajgw.12054
- Smith S, de Smet I (2012) Root system architecture: insights from Arabidopsis and cereal crops. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 367(1595):1441–1452. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0234
- Soumaila ZBIM, Bi Tra T, Guédé Noêl Z, Zaka Claude Ghislaine K, Kouakou Romain F, Zézé A (2012) Arbuscular mycorrizal fungi associated with *Theobroma cacao* L. in the region of Yamoussoukro (Côte d'Ivoire). Afr J Agric Res 7(6):993–1001. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR11.2057
- Sultan B, Gaetani M (2016) Agriculture in West Africa in the twenty-first century: climate change and impacts scenarios and potential for adaptation. Front Plant Sci 7:1262. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls. 2016.01262
- Taylor SJ, Hadley P (1988) Relation between root and shoot growth in cocoa (*Theobroma cacao*) grown under different shade regimes. In: Proceedings from the 10th International Cocoa Research Conference, 1987, pp 77–183
- Thomas JMG, Boote KJ, Allen LH, Gallo-Meagher M, Davis JM (2003) Elevated temperature and carbon dioxide effects on soybean seed composition and transcript abundance. Crop Sci 43(4):1548–1557. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2003.1548
- Toxopeus H (1985) Botany, types and populations. In: Cacao. Longman Group Limited, London, pp 11–37. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9780470698983
- Toxopeus J, Wessel M (1970) Studies on pod and bean values of *Theobroma cacao* L. in Nigeria. I. Environmental effects on west African Amelonado with particular attention to annual rainfall distribution. Neth J Agric Sci 18:132–139
- Tscharntke T, Clough Y, Bhagwat SA, Buchori D, Faust H, Hertel D, Hölscher D, Juhrbandt J, Kessler M, Perfecto I, Scherber C, Schroth G, Veldkamp E, Wanger TC (2011) Multifunctional shade-tree management in tropical agroforestry landscapes – a review. J Appl Ecol 48(3):619–629. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01939.x

- Van Vliet JA, Giller KE (2017) Mineral nutrition of cocoa. A review. Adv Agron 141:185–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2016.10.017
- Van Vuuren DP, Edmonds J, Kainuma M, Riahi K, Thomson A, Hibbard K, Hurtt GC, Kram T, Krey V, Lamarque J-F, Masui T, Meinshausen M, Nakicenovic N, Smith ST, Rose SK (2011) The representative concentration pathways: an overview. Clim Chang 109(5):5–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-011-0148-z
- Wang W, Vinocur B, Shoseyov O, Altman (2004) Role of plant heatshock proteins and molecular chaperones in the abiotic stress response. Trends Plant Sci 9(5):244–252. doi: https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.tplants.2004.03.006
- Wang M, Zheng Q, Shen Q, Guo S (2013) The critical role of potassium in plant stress response. Int J Mol Sci 14:7370–7390. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms14047370
- WCF (World Cocoa Foundation) (2014) Cocoa market update, April 1, 2014. http://www.worldcocoafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/ Cocoa-Market-Update-as-of-4-1-2014.pdf. Accessed 23 October 2017
- Wood GAR (1985) Environment. In: Cacao. Longman Group Limited, London, pp 38–79. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470698983
- Woods DB, Turner NC (1971) Stomatal response to changing light by four species of varying shade tolerance. New Phytol 70(1):77–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1971.tb02512.x
- Woodward FI (1987) Stomatal numbers are sensitive to increases in CO<sub>2</sub> from pre-industrial levels. Nature 327:617–618. https://doi.org/10. 1038/327617a0
- Wullschleger SD, Tschalpinski TJ, Norby RJ (2002) Plant water relations at elevated CO<sub>2</sub> - implications for water-limited environments. Plant Cell Environ 25(2):319–331
- Yapp JHH (1992) A study into the potential for enhancing productivity in cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.) through exploitation of physiological and genetic variation. Dissertation, University of Reading
- Yapp JHH, Hadley P (1994) Inter-relationships between canopy architecture, light interception, vigour and yield in cocoa: implications for improving production efficiency. In: Proceeding of the international cocoa conference: challenges in the 90's, 1991, pp 332–350
- Young AM (1983) Seasonal differences in abundance and distribution of cocoa-pollinating midges in relation to flowering and fruit set between shaded and sunny habitats of the La Lola cocoa farm in Costa Rica. J Appl Ecol 20(3):801–831. https://doi.org/10.2307/2403127
- Zuidema PA, Leffelaar PA, Gerritsma W, Mommer L, Anten NPR (2005) A physiological production model for cocoa (*Theobroma cacao*): model presentation, validation and application. Agric Syst 84(2): 195–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGSY.2004.06.0

